Maria Risto Kippe

How might three professional contemporary dancers experience communication in choreographic processes?

Master's thesis in Kunstfagdidaktikk Supervisor: Rosemary Kate Martin May 2023



Maria Risto Kippe

How might three professional contemporary dancers experience communication in choreographic processes?

Master's thesis in Kunstfagdidaktikk Supervisor: Rosemary Kate Martin May 2023

Norwegian University of Science and Technology Faculty of Social and Educational Sciences



Abstract

This study investigates how three professional contemporary dancers experience communication in choreographic processes in Norway. The study takes a qualitative approach and explores the methodologies ethnography and autoethnography to develop an understanding of the culture of communication in the choreographic field. The study draws on data from auto narratives and two semi-structured interviews to explore the participants understanding and experiences.

The thesis asks the following research question:

How might three contemporary professional dancers experience communication in choreographic processes?

The main findings from the study offer an understanding of how dancers experience and explore communication both through verbal and non-verbal communication. More specifically by incorporating vocalizations and continuously revisiting the creative idea throughout the choreographic process along with delving into different senses, such as glance and tactile communication. The study has revealed how communication can emerge in choreographic processes with three choreographers and how the dancers' relationships might impact the process. Furthermore, the data provides an understanding of how communication can be supportive in both pedagogical and professional situations. Ultimately, the data gives valuable insight to how consideration of communication skills might be of significance in choreographic education. Communication can contribute to unique improvement of dancers' experience with choreographic processes and the participants personal profit of developing their communication skills. The study aims to create an awareness of how communication can provide dancers, dance pedagogues, choreographers, and dance institutions the ability to develop new-thinking choreography in a considerate, reflective, and efficient way.

Sammendrag

Denne studien ser på hvordan tre profesjonelle dansere opplever kommunikasjon i koreografiske prosesser i Norge. Denne studien har en kvalitativ tilnærming og utforsker metodologiene etnografi og autoetnografi for å utvikle en forståelse for kommunikasjonskulturen i det koreografiske feltet. Studien tar for seg auto-narrativer og to semi-strukturerte intervjuer for å utforske deltakernes oppfatninger og erfaringer.

Studien har følgende forskningsspørsmål:

Hvordan kan kommunikasjon i koreografiske prosesser oppleves av tre profesjonelle dansere innen moderne dans?

Hovedfunnene gir innsikt i hvordan dansere kan oppleve og utforske kommunikasjon gjennom både verbal og ikke-verbal kommunikasjon. Dette skjer gjennom å inkorporere vokalisering og kontinuerlig forfølge den kreative ideen i den koreografiske prosessen, og gjennom å utforske ulike sanser, som blikk og taktil kommunikasjon. Studien viser hvordan kommunikasjon i koreografiske prosesser kan erfares med tre koreografer, og hvordan danseres relasjoner kan påvirke prosessen. Videre bidrar datamaterialet til en forståelse av hva støttende kommunikasjon kan være både i pedagogiske og profesjonelle sammenhenger. Empirien gir verdifull innsikt i hvordan en forståelse for kommunikasjonsferdigheter kan være signifikant i koreografisk utdanning. Kommunikasjon kan bidra til unik utvikling av dansernes opplevelse av koreografiske prosesser og deltakernes gevinst gjennom å utvikle sine kommunikasjonsferdigheter. Studiens mål er å skape en bevissthet rundt hvordan kommunikasjon kan gi dansere, dansepedagoger, koreografer og danseinstitusjoner evnen til å utvikle koreografi på en hensynsfull, reflekterende og effektiv måte.

Acknowledgements

I am grateful for the patience and assistance from so many people during my process of writing this master thesis. Thank you to all my dance teachers during my 11 years of dance training for the inspiration and knowledge that have contributed to this master project.

I want to thank my supervisor professor Rosemary Kate Martin for encouraging advice and support during this journey. Thank you for your expertise and motivation throughout the entire process. Thank you for your perspectives on dance and choreography, it has truly been enlightening for my future career as a dancer and dance pedagogue. Finally, thank you for always challenging me and believing in me and this research project.

Thank you to my parents, Trond Risto Nilssen and Karin Kippe, for pushing me to do this master and for always believing that I could do it. Thank you for consistently supporting my dream to work with dance.

I want to thank my fiancé, Petter Skrove, for all patience and warm hugs during this process. Thank you for always providing guidance whenever I felt lost in my work, for your moral support and your daily humor. Your impact has been more significant than you can imagine.

Table of contents

1	INTR	ODUCTION	1
	1.1	THE RESEARCH QUESTION	1
	1.2	THREE THEORIES ON COMMUNICATION	2
	1.3	WHAT IS CHOREOGRAPHY?	2
	1.4	CONTEMPORARY DANCE	3
	1.5	THE STUDY'S SIGNIFICANCE	4
	1.6	OVERVIEW OF THE THESIS.	
2	LITER	ATURE REVIEW	
	2.1	Communication	7
	2.1.1	Communication theory	
	2.1.2	•	
	2.1.3	Communication in the dance studio	
	2.1.5	CONTEMPORARY CHOREOGRAPHIC PROCESSES	
	2.2.1	Communication and collaboration in choreographic processes	
	2.2.2	<u> </u>	
	2.3	CHOREOGRAPHIC EDUCATION	
	2.4	SUMMARY	
3	METI	HODOLOGY	
3			
	3.1	RESEARCH FRAMEWORK	
	3.1.1	Qualitative research	
	3.1.2	Ethnography	
	3.1.3	Autoethnography	
	3.1.4	My position as the researcher	
	3.2	METHODS	
	3.2.1	Interviews	
	3.2.2	Semi-structured interviews	
	3.2.3	Auto narrative	
	3.2.4	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
	3.2.5		
	3.2.6	Challenges and limitations	
	3.3	SUMMARY	
4	RESU	LTS, ANALYSIS, AND DISCUSSION	31
	4.1	COMMUNICATION AS AN ONGOING PRACTICE	31
	4.1.1	Revisiting the creative idea	
	4.1.2	The feeling of "blah" – Exploring vocalization	35
	4.2	THE EMBODIED FEELING OF COMMUNICATION	37
	4.2.1	An exploration of sensory communication	38
	4.2.2	Tactile communication	41
	4.3	GLANCE AS COMMUNICATION	45
	4.4	SUPPORTIVE COMMUNICATION	47
	4.4.1	Supportive communication in choreographic education	48
	4.4.2	"Just say it, it's not a big deal" – The impact of dancers relationships	51
	4.4.3	Communication between multiple choreographers	
	4.5	PUT YOUR EGO AWAY — EMERGING COMMUNICATION SKILLS	
	4.6	SUMMARY	58
5	CON	CLUSION	61
	5.1	Main findings	61
	5.2	RECOMMENDATIONS	64
	5.3	DIRECTIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	65
	5.4	FINAL REFLECTIONS	66

6		REFERENCES 6	7
7		APPENDIX	13
	7 1	INTERVIEW GLIDE	,,

1 Introduction

The interactive aspect of dance has interested me for several years. I started to question what exactly I find so captivating about this. According to Barsky (2021) dancers never move independently when dancing with others, because they must be attentive of the other dancers in everything they do. Furthermore, Barsky (2021) claims that dancers move in dialogue with each other when performing, and the idea of moving together is regardless of being just close or physically touching. Barsky's thinking led me to wonder how contemporary dancers communicate with each other, and particularly how they communicate in collaborative choreographic processes.

As I have gained experience and maturity as a dance artist, both as a professional dancer and as a dance pedagogue, I have practiced communication in several ways. This research emerges from my experience that professional dancers often create contemporary dance collectively, rather than only having one choreographer leading the process. I therefore started to question what communication can look like in the dance studio, and particularly in processes with multiple choreographers. From being a dance teacher, I have seen how dance students can understand and interpret corrections, explanations and movements. As a dance pedagogue I am always carefully considering how I share information to ensure that I communicate in a clear and supportive way. I enjoy exploring diverse ways to communicate contemporary dance to my students, as it challenges me to further understand the dance genre and individual ways of interpreting it. I remember as a dance student that my dance teachers could explain a movement or share a creative idea, and by simply listening, observing, and physically exploring, I somehow discovered what to do with my body. I have noticed a difference in my awareness of my communication practices in professional choreographic processes compared to my experience working as a dance pedagogue. In this study I therefore investigate how three professional contemporary dancers, myself and two colleagues, experience communication in contemporary choreographic processes. This leads me to the selected research question for the study.

1.1 The research question

This study is motivated by the following main research question: **How might three** contemporary professional dancers experience communication in choreographic processes?

I seek to delve into how professional contemporary dancers explore diverse communication methods, and how they share creative ideas and generate movements collectively. The main research question has facilitated supplementary sub-questions. To provide the study with depth and support, the following sub-questions are shaped to contribute to a focused exploration.

The first sub-question is: **How might non-verbal communication play a crucial role in contemporary choreographic processes?**

This sub-question aims to provide insight to the different non-verbal approaches of communication in contemporary choreographic processes. The question looks at how

non-verbal communication can be of significance when sharing and discussing creative ideas. An understanding of the role of diverse communication methods in choreographic work may potentially also influence the attentiveness towards communication in choreographic education. Consequently, the second sub-question explores the significance of developing dance students' communication skills in choreographic education.

The second sub-question is: **How might communication be of significance in contemporary choreographic education?**

The second sub-question subsidizes the study with an attentiveness towards how communication skills can be of relevance for dance student's future endeavors and potential dance career. It additionally offers an insight to how dance pedagogues can explore communication in choreographic education.

1.2 Three theories on communication

To grasp the relationship between communication and choreographic processes, it is significant to explain the three theories on communication that are explored in this research. These three theories provide the study with different perspectives of how communication can be understood and perceived. The study investigates communication through Craig´s (1999) perspective in which communication is a way of interacting and affecting each other. However, Craig (1999) also argues that there are several theories about communication and that there is no agreement on how to define or understand the concept of communication. Therefore, it is especially crucial to explain the three theories on communication that underpin this research. These theories are: social psychology (Craig, 1999) regarding how people interact with others, kinesthetic dialogue (Berg, 2021) concerning the mutual non-verbal communication appearing in the transfer of artistry, and the "Johari window" (Koca & Erigüç, 2020; Graasvold, 2015) which explains different interpersonal communication abilities a person can have.

Social psychology (Craig, 1999) has provided an understanding of how individuals communicate based on mindsets, personalities and emotional circumstances. Berg´s (2021) theory about kinesthetic dialogue is valuable in which it enlightens non-verbal communication in dance artistry and communication in choreographic education. Finally, the "Johari window" (Koca & Erigüç, 2020; Graasvold, 2015) provide knowledge about humans' desires, actions, emotions, and preferences. The "Johari window" supports this study through an understanding of how people´s behaviors and feelings might affect their ways of communicating with other`s. Communication is according to Adams (2022) a key when working with others collaboratively. Because communication is a crucial component of collaborative work, it is necessary to explore these communication theories in relation to choreographic processes. The literature review will provide a more detailed explanations of the different communication theories. I will in the next section deliver definitions of choreography because it pertains to the study.

1.3 What is choreography?

As the thesis focuses of choreographic processes, it is helpful to explore the question "what is choreography?". Choreography is in this study understood in line with Pickard's (2018) view that it encompasses a creation, design, and structure of movements. Klien (2007) claims that choreography is a way of creating and manipulating diverse rules in

an open way. Pickard and Kilen's understanding might mean that creating choreography is about challenging and exploring structures with an embodied approach. Klien (2007) additionally states that choreography is a way of understanding the world in which it is full of interactions, relations and arrangements. This study therefore considers choreography as a process that enables diverse communication methods to occur through interactional and collaborative approaches. The next section will delve into the meaning of contemporary dance.

1.4 Contemporary dance

Given that the thesis focuses on choreographic processes in contemporary dance and that my own background is within this dance practice, it is of relevance to explain what contemporary dance means in the context of this research. Contemporary dance has a multitude of understandings. According to Kwan (2017) contemporary dance is apparent in several dance genres, and contemporary dance does not necessarily mean the same for everyone engaging with the term. A definition of contemporary dance might hence be challenging to uncover, and it is consequently significant to consider what contemporary dance means for this study. Stevens and McKechnie (2005) suggests that contemporary dance consist of the idea of movement for the movement's sake, and that the aim is to create a new work of art. This study correspondingly understands contemporary dance as a broad term for numerous ways of moving, that is constantly open for new interpretations.

The ideas for new movement material in contemporary dance often comes from objects or from visualizations and experiences that are previously seen, articulated, or heard (Stevens & McKechnie, 2005). The idea of Stevens and McKechnie supports the study's understanding of contemporary dance as a broad movement genre as it can be built on individual's experiences, which will be dissimilar to one another. Nevertheless, contemporary dance is a dance "together with time" in which it can be driven by different trends and political, cultural or intellectual significances of that time (Kwan, 2017). So, the descriptions of contemporary dance can change according to the time we are in, and dancers' communication methods within contemporary dance might likewise vary. Kwan (2017) proposes three ways to recognize and understand contemporary dance: contemporary concert dance, contemporary commercial dance and contemporary world dance. Contemporary concert dance can contain release technique, contact improvisation, floor work, ballet, and several modern dance techniques such as Graham, Limon and Cunningham (Kwan, 2017). Given that my higher education in contemporary dance emphasized release technique and modern dance techniques like Graham and Cunningham, contemporary concert dance is of relevance for the study. Kwan (2017) also mentions that contemporary concert dance is often collaboratively choreographed. Most of the choreographic processes I have been in have explored western contemporary dance including contact improvisation and collaborative explorations. Accordingly, this study looks at communication in choreographic processes in relation to Kwan's (2017) suggestion of contemporary concert dance, and Stevens and McKechnie (2005) understanding of the dance genre.

I have now explained theories and terms that are relevant to understand at the outset of this thesis. I will now explain the study's significance to discuss why knowledge about communication in contemporary choreographic processes is valuable, both for the professional contemporary dance field and for choreographic education.

1.5 The study's significance

This study involves several areas of significance. An understanding of different communication methods can help professional dancers appreciate and explore new ways of making choreography. It might also help dancers understand how to communicate in efficient and valuable ways. An awareness towards communication in choreographic education can help dance students develop understandings of how to collaborate. It can mature students' considerate and supportive communication towards each other, and consequently help them discover the benefits of being open to new ideas and contributions. Dance students might then develop an understand of how communication skills from choreographic processes can be valuable for their future career, even if they chose to have a different career than dance. Moreover, the study can provide dance pedagogues with considerations of how they can discover innovative and useful teaching strategies. Dance pedagogues educate future dancers and choreographers and have consequently a responsibility to develop teaching approaches that prioritizes the student's development of communication skills.

The study can additionally be valuable for choreographers, dance schools and other dance institutions that guide dancers and dance pedagogues through curriculums, tasks and courses. Dance schools and institutions can play a crucial role in, for instance, educating dance pedagogues, dancers and choreographers about careful considerations when it comes to the use of physical touch. Finally, this thesis might open the possibility for further research concerning communication in choreographic processes, such as 1) how the dance pedagogues understanding of communication might influence the students communication skills, 2) how dance students understand and explore communication in choreographic processes, 3) communication between the choreographer and the dancer, and 4) how communication skills from choreographic work might enhance the dancers and students everyday life, including how it may benefit society, and social and cultural contexts.

1.6 Overview of the thesis

Following on from this introduction chapter, the second chapter of this thesis provides a literature review, where I discuss relevant literature and theories that have been significant in my understanding of the main research question. The literature review contextualizes the research within today 's contemporary choreographic field. The literature review presents three theories on communication: social psychology (Craig, 1999), the "Johari window" (Koca & Erigüç, 2020; Graasvold, 2015) and kinesthetic dialogue (Berg, 2021). These communication theories provide definitions of communication and how it can be understood and perceived in diverse settings. The chapter shares relevant research about communication in relation to dance and contemporary choreographic processes and also explores communication in other areas, such as choreographic education, collaborative work, and art practices like design.

Chapter three delivers the methodology of this thesis. The chapter outlines that the thesis is situated in a qualitative framework, with an ethnographic and an autoethnographic methodological approach. I discuss my position as an insider-outsider researcher and how the use of semi-structured interviews and auto narratives have been used as methods to explore communication in contemporary choreographic processes. The chapter continues with a framework of how the data was analyzed, looking at the

step-by-step guide by Braun and Clarke (2006) on how to conduct a thematic analysis of the material. At the end of the chapter, I reflect on the ethical considerations of the study as well as the challenges and limitations that emerged.

Following the methodology, I provide the results, analysis, and discussion chapter. The two participants contributions and my own auto narratives are reflected upon and are explored in relation to each other, together with relevant literature and theory. The results, analysis and discussion chapter present communication in contemporary choreographic processes with a particular attention towards the dancer-dancer relation. The chapter further offers an understanding of how communication methods within contemporary choreographic processes can emerge and develop. Significant communication approaches such as verbal communication and non-verbal communication in diverse forms are studied in this chapter. At the end of the chapter, I draw attention to communication in choreographic education. This section suggests how an attentiveness towards communication can facilitate robust and considerate dancers and individuals.

The last chapter in this thesis is the conclusion, which gives an overview of the key findings and their potential meanings and significance for the contemporary choreographic field in Norway. The conclusion provides a clear articulation of the discoveries, and how they have contributed to an increased understanding of communication as a unique feature within contemporary choreographic processes and choreographic education. This chapter additionally presents new questions and curiosities regarding the role of communication in contemporary choreographic work, as well as suggestions for future research which emerged from this study and its potential.

2 Literature review

The literature review is outlined to support the exploration of the main research question: How might three contemporary professional dancers experience communication in choreographic processes? The literature review explores relevant literature and theories that subsidises the study with an understanding of how communication in choreographic processes can be experienced. It provides the study with valuable information regarding what research has previously been carried out within comparable areas. Furthermore, the literature review clarifies theoretical terms and aspects that are being explored in the study.

Communication is described as when people interact and influence each other (Craig, 1999). According to Craig (1999) is communication as a term though complicated to understand as there are several theories reflecting different approaches to communication. Communication is therefore in this study explored through three different communication theories: social psychology (Craig, 1999), kinesthetic dialogue (Berg, 2021) and the "Johari Window" (Koca & Erigüç, 2020; Graasvold, 2015). Furthermore, the literature review explores literature in relation to generating movements in choreographic processes. Giguere (2011) claims that experiences and values from different parts of life will be incorporated and together produce a choreography. The process of generating movements can be profoundly influenced by the individuals' experiences. Consequently, this section has offered ideas to how the research question can be investigated to enrich the study with new perspectives on communication in contemporary choreographic processes. Choreographic education is another relevant term to address. Both Berg (2021) and Chappell (2007) argues that a combination of physical demonstrations and the use of verbal communication gives dance students an improved understanding of dance movements and technique. Literature about choreographic education offers valuable insights to the study as it provides an indication of how communication can be identified within choreographic education.

The literature review further explores other relevant key terms of communication literature on "communication theory", "communication in choreographic processes", "communication in the dance studio", "contemporary choreographic processes" and "collaboration and communication in choreographic processes". I have found several articles and books that have presented interesting ideas to support and enrich the study. By searching in Oria, Google Scholar, Idunn, Jased and the NTNU library, I have found useful and varied literature to discuss and explore the research question. The literature review helps the study to truly consider and understanding communication in contemporary choreographic processes.

2.1 Communication

Given that this study explores communication in professional contemporary choreographic processes, it is of relevance to explore perspectives on communication in diverse circumstances. This can help discover innovative and distinctive ways of communication in contemporary choreographic processes. It is of significance to explore literature on communication in diverse areas where it has been extensively researched, such as in collaborative work. Literature from areas within other art forms gives an understanding of communication of artistic and embodied knowledge. In this study I aim

to investigate what is underneath the surface of communication in contemporary choreographic processes, and to understand how dancers truly communicate.

Section 2.1.1 presents different theories about communication that provides a broad understanding of how communication can be recognized and perceived. The section particularly reflects upon social psychology (Craig, 1999), kinesthetic dialogue (Berg, 2021) and the "Johari window" (Koca & Erigüç, 2020; Graasvold, 2015). Section 2.1.2 brings the study further to communication in creative processes which refers to communication in the arts. I reflect upon alternative ways of communication, such as multimodal communication through demonstration, sounds, embodied knowledge, and non-verbal communication. The next section, section 2.1.3, explores how communication emerges in the dance studio, like through facial expressions, humor, and gestures. This section reflects on how the dancers' cognitive states, feelings and attitudes can affect how the communication practice develops in the dance studio. This relates to the "Johari window" that is elaborated in the next section along with the two other communication theories mentioned above, to offer an understanding of what communication means.

2.1.1 Communication theory

There are many theories on communication which emphasize and value different aspects and approaches of communication (Craig, 1999). The wide range of communication theories may contribute to an understanding of communication as a broad term. Communication is often understood as when individuals interconnect and affect each other, which can happen face to face or in other forms, such as through technological media (Craig, 1999). Craig´s statement about communication is applicable for communication in choreographic processes as it emphasizes interaction in different forms. Craig (1999) additionally states that all communication theories are applicable as communication as a term is already significant and expressive. Nonetheless, Craig (1999) mentions that there are several theories in communication theory, but that there is no agreement on communication theory as a distinct field. Communication theories provide different information about how and why individuals might act and respond in the manner they do. In the next paragraphs these theories will be explained: social psychology, the "Johari window" and kinesthetic dialogue.

In social psychology, communication is mediated in interaction with others based on individuals' attitudes, emotional states, personalities, and unconscious conflicts (Craig, 1999). This can suggest that an individual's attitude or approach towards a choreographic process might affect how that person reacts to different situations. A dancer's personality might influence the communication practice within the choreographic process and potentially affect what communication methods are being explored further. Craig (1999) argues that an individual's mindset, assumptions, and emotional states will influence the person's reactions in social contexts, and that these social interactions will affect the group's outcome. Craig's statement might propose that the outcome of a choreographic process will be disturbed or altered based on the participants responses. The theory of social psychology can contribute to appreciation of individual's needs in a supportive way.

The "Johari window" is another way of understanding communication, and it consists of four area quadrants that represent a person's needs, behaviors, emotions, and preferences (Koca & Erigüç, 2020). This might indicate that the "Johari window" can give deep knowledge about dancer's needs and provide communication skills that are

encouraging and understanding in choreographic processes. Graasvold (2015) explains the "Johari window" as a description of interpersonal communication and describes how communication can be experienced as more open and including if we are authentic to one another. Graasvold (2015) additionally mentions that mutual feedback in collaborative situations and our ability to listen to each other is an essential element in understanding how other people perceive us. So, by being true and honest to the people involved in the choreographic process, the participants can develop a more open dialogue and an including environment. Knowledge about the "Johari window" in relation to how people behave might hence be beneficial for dancers' communication practice in choreographic processes. However, Koca and Erigüç (2020) claims that these areas are not permanent and can change according to emotions and experiences in life that can help ensure communication and decision-making efficiency. Recognizing the impact of dancers' constant change of behaviors might thus contribute to improved communication skills. These skills might teach dancers to acknowledge and appreciate people's different cognitive states both within choreographic processes and outside of the dance studio.

The model below presents the four areas of the "Johari window".

	Known to Self	Not Known to Self
Known Person to Others	(I. General Situation) Arena Quadrant (Open Area)	(II. Questionable Situation Blind Spot Quadrant (Blind Spot)
Not Known to Others	(III. Specific Situation) Facade Quadrant (Hidden Area)	(IV. Unknown Situation) Unknown Quadrant (Unknown Area)
		Subconscious

Figure. The Johari window model (Koca & Erigüc, 2020, p. 435).

SELF-DISCLOSURE

The four quadrants of the "Johari window" represent different ways of interpersonal communication abilities an individual can have (Koca & Erigüc, 2020). Koca and Erigüc (2020) mentions that it also investigates the self-disclosure actions in which it is a way of understanding ourselves in relation to others. The "Johari window" might help dancers understand themselves and how they communicate in different situations in collaborative processes. This might facilitate deeper exploration opportunities and attentiveness towards the importance of communication in choreographic processes. Graasvold and Koca and Erigüc's understanding of the "Johari window" have given the study an extensive perception of communication with others in choreographic processes.

Berg (2021) explores kinesthetic dialogue, and claims that kinesthetic dialogue is a mutual non-verbal way of communicating that produces movement quality where teacher and student are dancing together with a transfer of artistry between them. Kinesthetic dialogue is essential for this study as it contributes to an understanding of artistic and expressive communication, through non-verbal communication particularly. For Berg (2021), kinesthetic dialogue in ballet pedagogy is when there is a kinesthetic communication from the teacher that the student offers a kinesthetic response to. A non-verbal way of communication can therefore allow the teacher and the student to have a conversation through movement. This can additionally relate to communication in professional contemporary choreographic processes. It might mean that communication between the teacher and the student, or between several dancers, involves a shared

motion of sensation and passion through movement. Gaining an understanding of the effects of kinesthetic dialogue can foster an awareness of the meaning and value of non-verbal communication in choreographic processes. The next section will delve into communication in creative processes, aiming to get insight into how communication can occur in processes exploring creativity, correspondingly to choreographic processes.

2.1.2 Communication in creative processes

Communication in choreographic processes might transpire in different ways. To get an overview of different communication approaches in creative processes, this section is exploring literature regarding communication within diverse context, such as in design and dance. An understanding of how communication appears in several creative processes can offer an idea of how to communicate in choreography making. It can provide an awareness of how artists explore and utilize communication in creative and practical tasks. It can consequently relate to communication in choreographic processes because of the bodily and creative aspects of collaboration and communication within these fields. Perhaps there are some comparable communication methods within diverse creative processes? Budge (2016) claims that artists implicitly convey their art experiences and knowledge in numerous of ways by, for example, drawing on easels, showing the students different objects, physically demonstrating and through communicating tacit knowledge. Budge 's study clearly indicates that art can be conveyed in multimodal and explorative ways.

In a typical collaborative design session, multimodal communication methods are utilized with inventive, emotional, and investigative aspects of the art (Vyas et al., 2013). This can relate to choreography in which dancers can share creative ideas and movement materials in several ways to foster a mutual understanding. Alaoui et al. (2015) suggests that approaches to describe creative ideas in contemporary dance can be, for instance, by using different sounds to explain the dynamics of the movements or by visualizing through metaphors that can explain the quality of the movements. Exploring sound as a valuable tool for communication in choreographic processes might offer an idea that dance can involve embodied communication. Budge (2016) has researched how artists at universities teach and communicate creative processes. Budge (2016) adds that embodied information can be better offered through performance rather than only utilizing words. Her research does not cover or give an answer to how to communicate art in education specifically. However, it presents how it can be explored through examples from Australian higher education contexts. Budge (2016) proposes that embodied knowledge is communicated through, for instance, demonstrating practices and communication about the art. This perhaps suggests that communication in and about art can be a challenging process as the knowledge might be embodied and tacit. Nevertheless, Roche (2018) proposes that the process of making dance is often based on non-linguistic modes of communication. This statement might indicate that dancers often communicate in ways that are non-verbal and might therefore open for interesting, alternative, and embodied approaches to communication. Not only do artists embody their practice, but there is often a developed culture and specific linguistics that are used by the practitioners within that culture (Budge, 2016). Even though a specific culture shares similar understandings of communication of ideas and perceptions, communication within different creative processes can involve comparable approaches to exploration of art.

In contrast to the ideas described above, Coleman (2018) mentions a challenge of collective art processes, such as the difficulty retaining and establishing a creative process due to the styles of leadership. In a collective choreographic process where all dancers are both choreographers and performers, it can be demanding to make decisions in which conclusions must be made, and everyone may certainly not agree on them. Furthermore, Coleman (2018) argues that individuals in collaborative art processes often enters the process with diverse tacit expectations, which provides confusions and disagreement. The participants' expectations of the choreographic process might affect how they communicate and act in the process. Concepts, ideas, and intentions can be understood in different ways, that might foster a feeling of uncertainty. However, arguments may contribute to a more reflective and engaged choreographic process where the individuals involved can challenge their initial opinions and understanding of the collaborative process. Besides, different understandings and perspectives might contribute to several unique ways of communicating and implementing an idea. In the next section, communication in the dance studio will be discussed as a way of exploring how communication can arise in the dance studio, and to offer an understanding of communication in dance particularly.

2.1.3 Communication in the dance studio

Communication of art can, as mentioned above, unfold in several ways, which might be applicable to how communication also occurs in the dance studio. Laguna and Shifres (2022) mentions that there are different roles to fulfill in the dance studio, such as the teacher, dancer, choreographer, and the musician. However, a consequence of this can be that there are communication failures if their language is used in contrasting ways and their value and focus on dance can be different (Laguna & Shifres, 2022). I acknowledged in section 2.1.2 that the different art forms create their own culture of linguistics. This might provide difficulties when it comes to collaboration across different art forms, however misunderstandings and other complications might also occur between individuals within the same art form. So, how can dancers prevent communication failures in the dance studio? It can be possible to consider Stock's idea of exploring humor in the choreographic process. According to Stock (2012), the use of humor released tension and fatigue during the rehearsals and the pressure of producing a successful piece. Visual jokes and laughter were therefore essential aspects of communication and social relationships in the dance work that Stock (2012) was investigating. It can be vital to apply humor in the dance studio because it might offer a more relaxed and efficient communication practice. The use of humor should though not produce an unproductive choreographic process, but rather contribute to a light and manageable atmosphere where everyone can feel calm and included.

According to Berg (2021), her ballet students respond to her bodily communication in class, such as her facial expression and other bodily reactions. So, when the teacher or the choreographer conveys information or is giving feedback, their facial expressions and other physical responses can influence how the information is interpreted. Berg (2021) also mentions that by communicating with arm gestures and by utilizing her torso and head as a way of conveying information, the students alter their movements. Nonetheless, Laguna and Shifres (2022) argue that it is essential to pay attention to what the teacher is saying in advance of demonstrating the first movement of an exercise as it may provide an indication of the "what, how and when". It can be understood that numerous of communication methods are used in the dance studio to share information that collectively contribute to an improved understanding of the

movements. Some of the communication methods might even be implied without an underlying awareness of its intention. Berg's (2021) statement about facial expressions, for instance, might indicate one of the implicit communication methods in the dance studio.

Movements and our cognitive abilities are not separate experiences, they both are rather essential elements in our physical kinesthetic intellectual which communicates with a world in constant change (Østern & Dahl, 2019). As people are situated in a world in constant change, the dancers' mentalities may adapt and their appreciation of creative ideas or movements in the dance studio may accordingly change. This can be seen in the context of the four quadrants of the "Johari window" (Koca & Erigüç, 2020; Graasvold, 2015). It might be significant to provide dancers with awareness and knowledge about how people's performance and attitude potentially affect their communication methods, and that it might constantly change. It may therefore be essential to recognize dancers' moods and needs throughout the process to attain an adaptable and tolerant atmosphere in the dance studio. As communication in the dance studio can be affected by the dancers' values and desires, it is interesting to explore how communication in contemporary dance particularly emerges and grows in a choreographic process. Therefore, section 2.2 discusses relevant literature and theory in relation to choreographic processes in contemporary dance.

2.2 Contemporary choreographic processes

As the research question explores communication in contemporary choreographic processes, it is relevant to consider literature and theory about choreographic processes in contemporary dance. Literature about contemporary choreographic processes is specifically significant in which it looks at the accurate dance genre relevant for the study. First, this section will explore literature about contemporary choreographic processes where features such as improvisation, creativity and critical thinking is discussed. This section moreover questions how contemporary dance in choreographic processes is created collaboratively. The following section, section 2.2.1, goes deeper into communication and collaborative aspects of contemporary choreographic processes. The section looks at how people can communicate in collaborative processes. It investigates communication through sharing of creative ideas and giving feedback, through non-verbal communication in collaborative processes. Furthermore, section 2.2.2 studies how movements are generated in choreographic processes. The literature presents different ways of exploring individuality within the movement material and in what way the movements are selected by looking at how the participants experiences and knowledges can affect this process.

Creativity is potentially an inherent component of contemporary dance, and it is expected and accepted that the dancer is contributing with individual interpretations of the movement material (Clements & Redding, 2020). However, Clements and Redding (2020) found that five dance teachers of contemporary dance considered it to be a connection between being confident and being creative, in which decision making and independence are essential elements to be creative. To move freely and to play with the set movement material or the task that is given, it might be essential to be confident. This might foster an openness to new-thinking and spontaneous exploration. A choreography is seen to be authentic when it distinctly conveys the choreographer's intention and purpose, and when the movement material is innovative and inspirational

(Sagiv et al., 2020). This makes me wonder how this process can go from an idea to an authentic and innovative choreography? Are movements created by simply doing different actions and putting them together as a choreographic piece? Sagiv et al. (2020) claims that choreographers of contemporary dance often start a choreographic process by utilizing improvisation to explore emotions and memories which later become set movement sequences. Sagiv et al. (2020) also mentions that in the composition stage of the choreographic process, the choreographers translate the abstract ideas into arranged sections. Predock-Linnell and Predock-Linnell (2001) argues that movements from the improvisation phase are later being selected and formed to be part of the choreography. There are clearly several phases in a contemporary choreographic process, and communication might be utilized in distinctive ways in the different stages. This makes me wonder how the choreographer communicates an improvisation task, how the sections develop into the set segments, and how the choreographer selects movements for the piece? By delving into how communication can be explored in contemporary choreographic processes, a more profound understanding of communication between dancers may be achieved.

Stock (2012) states that the dancers involved in the Phoenix project, which has explored intercultural communication issues with 16 experienced dancers, had to find alternative ways of communicating considering the language barriers. Movement language was therefore a fundamental component in understanding each other's ideas (Stock, 2012). Ehrenberg (2019) suggests that movements are a combination of what we perceive and how we explore the space, and choreography lets us discover, and to be with and a part of something. The process of making contemporary choreography might allow the dancers to explore something together in which they get to experience being a part of a unity and a collective, regardless of language and cultural differences. Coleman (2018) mentions that the choreographer must be involved with several intelligences in dance making, such as verbal, kinesthetic, aural, and interactive. The process of creating contemporary choreography might consist of several communication methods that together can generate innovative and new-thinking projects. Furthermore, critical thinking in contemporary choreographic processes might encourage communication and dialogue in a different way than simply creating set movements. By utilizing non-verbal communication, such as body language, dancers can have the unique ability to communicate despite verbal challenges. Communication in contemporary choreographic processes might therefore encompass more than just sharing movement materials. Communication can also be required to reflect upon and to understand each other's perception of a creative idea. Ehrenberg (2019) argues that choreographic thinking consists of exploring choreography and applying choreographic abilities such as questioning, considering and to "think through" a space. In addition, Ehrenberg (2019) argues that dancer's passion for movement encourages them to engage critically with questions as it can acknowledge critical thinking. Stock mentions that the dancer's professional expertise made them understand each other despite their verbal difficulties (Stock, 2012). Non-verbal communication contributes therefore to a variation of power within a group in which the artistic and the professional balance changes (Stock, 2012).

Ørbæk (2021) has found that body memories will affect how a student is understanding their own bodies and how to create dance. What we know and what we have already embodied can affect how we interact with new movement material and choreographic concepts. So, to communicate in a process where the dancers have different origins or prerequisite, different communication approaches might be needed to attain an including,

functional and productive process. However, in relation to Stock's research above, this might also mean that by including skilled dancers in a contemporary choreographic process, the participants can communicate non-verbally by exploring communication through their mutual embodied knowledge from dance. McKenzie (2017) mentions that a choreographic process constantly changes, such as the change of emphasis on physical movement, dramaturgy, sound, and the space. However, the brain and the physical actions of the body can still be in a creative dialogue (McKenzie, 2017). This might resonate with Ørbæk's argument that a dancer's body memory will influence the understanding of movements. Even though this simply relates to embodied knowledge it can be understood as a constant connection between the intellect and the body. This section has demonstrated how diverse communication methods are needed in contemporary choreographic processes to develop movement materials and to foster a collective understanding of the creative idea. The next section will explore the practice of communication and collaboration in choreographic processes, aiming to develop an understanding of its significance in relation to contemporary choreographic processes.

2.2.1 Communication and collaboration in choreographic processes

Looking at contemporary choreographic processes and how they evolve, it can now be significant to further explore how communication and collaboration might occur. This section will hence explore what communication and collaboration can be and to what extent these characteristics are necessary to understand the meanings of contemporary choreographic processes.

Foster-Sproull (2021) mentions that arts-based practices can encourage diversity, innovation, moral commitment, and hands-on involvements. Considering that art-based practices can contribute to these central elements, it is relevant to question why that might be. It can also be of relevance to ask how communication in choreographic processes can be applied to attain the components Foster-Sproull mentions above. Wittek (2012) argues that it is considered essential to give feedback in a constructive and appropriate way in collaboration. So, collaboration and communication are associated with each other in which they might be dependent on the other, either it is in a verbal or a non-verbal way. Craig (1999) states in his theory about social psychology that communication is a social and interactive aspect. This might indicate that collaboration is fundamental in choreographic processes. Communication and collaboration in choreography making are relevant and valued characteristics for the exploration of this study. It might provide further understandings of the role of collaboration and communication in collective choreographic work. Buck-Pavlick (2022) argues that it is essential to encourage communication, to provide understanding, and to sustain choreographic processes and artistic work. A consideration of how to communicate creative ideas might be vital to ensure understanding. In relation to Wittek's suggestion, communication should perhaps be continuously explored to understand its dynamics and consequence.

Ravn and Høffding (2021) mentions that an applicable situation when it comes to communication and collaboration is in musical concerts, where communication is happening between the musicians. By being in the space together, the musicians might engage both communicative and collaborative skills to play the music with precision. In a choreographic process which includes several people, whether it is just dancers alone or a collective with dancers, designers and musicians, the participants must 'read' each

other. This can enable them to navigate the space and to stay connected to one another. Although the dancers may be moving on the other side of the stage, or the musician is in another room, they need to stay in a constant interaction with each other. As Østern and Hovik (2017) explain that everything we do in life happens "with" something or someone. In relation to communication and collaboration, this statement might mean that it is essential to consider how to collaborate with different artists as everything we do happens in interaction with others. A dancer in Ravn and Høffding's (2021) study interacts with both the musician and the light designer when dancing on stage even though it is not through a physical connection. They simultaneously affect each other's next action. Ravn and Høffding (2021) argue that musicians must collectively find out who is doing what whilst they play, which is based on an interactive motion where the participants decide their next action in that moment. To create with, requires dialogue and interaction towards whom or what you are working alongside (Østern & Hovik, 2017). Sometimes it might be needed to find solutions whilst dancing with someone. To do so, unique communicative and collaborative approaches might be explored to collectively discover efficient, applicable, and interacted ways to proceed.

Similarly, to Østern and Hovik, Coleman (2018) argues that the exploration of movements and choreographic ideas in dance can encourage different communication methods. Including the aspect of creating dance with others (Coleman, 2018). Østern and Hovik, and Coleman's statements might indicate that different communication approaches should be explored in collaborative process to ensure considerate communication where everyone's voice is heard and valued. Furthermore, Coleman (2018) adds that movements are created by all the participants, leading to a collective learning and new knowledge. Movements created by the different dancers might subsidize the choreographic process with innovative movement material as everyone's contributions are being incorporated. This strengthens the idea that everyone's voices should be appreciated in collaborative processes to maintain an including process and to develop original choreographic ideas. Buck-Pavlick (2022) has correspondingly to Østern, Hovik and Coleman, explored how communication methods can be affected by working in collaborative processes. Buck-Pavlick (2022) found in her research project regarding metacognition through dance writing and collaborative dance making that the students would adjust their choice of words, language and tone depending on the topic of exploration. Bringing awareness towards how dancers verbally communicate can be of relevance in which chose of phrasings can affect how others interpret and experience it.

The upcoming section explore movement generation as communication, to investigate different communication methods applied in the process of creating movements.

2.2.2 Movement generation as communication

From exploring communication and collaboration as a vital element of choreographic processes, this section will delve into how movements might be designated and how this development transpires. The selection of movements in a contemporary choreographic process can be seen as a way of communicating. Dancers are communicating when sharing and creating movements. It is therefore valuable to consider how the selection of movements emerges. Movement generation might be the primary communication practice in contemporary choreography making.

In the process of generating movement, a creative idea or a concept might be required as a foundation for creation and communication. Foster-Sproull (2021) claims that the

movements in choreographies are selected on behalf of the development of choreographic concepts. The dancers' individual perceptions of the creative idea and the choreographic tasks can influence the generation of movements. The process of generating movements might also be influenced by the dancers' previous experience with the creative idea and their motivation for the choreographic process. Furthermore, Foster-Sproull (2021) argues that dancers' experiences of choreographic work depend on the approaches that are used to create movements, and that their experience will vary considering their individual preferences of each part of the choreography. It is conceivable that the dancers in a choreographic process will influence diverse parts of the choreography differently. Perhaps one dancer appreciates the phase of generating movements whilst another dancer values the dynamic explorations of the existing movements. The dancers might consequently be particularly determined to their desired part of the choreographic process.

According to Laguna and Shifres (2022) dancers often make individual marks by, for instance, doing the movements with less power or by reducing the extensions of the limbs, which can signify the authentic movements. Moreover, marking movements might be common when integrating new information to get an embodied understanding of it. The marking of movements can also be a way of memorizing or demonstrating what movement is coming, both for the dancer and the choreographer. A dancer in Stock's (2012) Phoenix project states that he does not try to imitate someone else's movements, he is rather exploring the idea of them and are therefore implementing them in his own way. The way this participant translates another dancers' movements into his body with a personal touch can signify that a clear conveying of movements is essential so that the dancers can share the same intention or message. Moreover, Lam et al. (2019) claim that conveying movement information will increase the likelihoods that the ideas will be understood and integrated. This may indicate that by being straight forward the other dancers can integrate the information into their bodies efficiently as the information was strongly communicated the initial time. Moreover, this may be significant in choreographic education in which well-defined and clear feedback might be needed to avoid confusions.

Stanton (2011) suggests that the aesthetic purpose for dance is not achieved by mechanical repetition, and a dancer normally motivates the body to action by having an outside visual reminder. The dancers in a collective choreographic process can be external motivators for each other to further exploration of the movements. Laguna and Shifres (2022) explain that the teacher may give a clear indication about what will happen; however, the dancers will comprehend the message in their own ways. In addition, Calvo-Marino et al. (2006) argues that how we understand and interpret movement material into our own bodies depends on our visual experiences and knowledge, however it is also affected by our previous motor experiences. So, not only will the dancers' experiences in life affect how they incorporate choreography into their own bodies, but the teachers' or choreographers' capabilities to communicate the movements can also affect how the dancers interpret them.

Furthermore, Stanton (2011) claims that by giving the dancer the opportunity to process and de-emphasize the external movements of, for instance, a teacher, the dancer can get the opportunity to discover and explore a personal identity in dance. Besides, Stanton (2011) states that the repetition of movements in dance is not to generate an imitation of the movements of the teacher in which there are individual dancers working

with the same material, and the movements will therefore not feel or look the same in every dancer's body. Giguere (2011) mentions that knowledge and values from different areas of life will be integrated and combined in which it together creates a choreography. Gipson and DiDomenico (2022) argue that perception is one of the most fundamental aspects for communication, and that perception of art provides experiences on how to respond to actions and contributes to more effective communication. Choreography will hence be influenced by the dancers' personal backgrounds in which every dancer will connect and interact with tasks and movements in their own way based on previous knowledge and experiences. This might support the idea that dancers' perceptions of movement material will vary and therefore look and feel differently in everyone's bodies.

Given that generation of movements can be communicated in numerous of ways, I am curious about how dance pedagogues' communication of movements can be seen in choreographic education. The next section will therefore investigate choreographic education and how communication plays a crucial role within this context.

2.3 Choreographic education

In relation to exploring the main research question of: How might three contemporary professional dancers experience communication in choreographic processes? It is relevant to explore literature on choreographic education to provide the study with deeper knowledge about communication in and through dance. The exploration of choreographic education might offer an attentiveness towards different communication methods in choreographic processes. Moreover, it can contribute to understanding the impact of establishing valuable communication skills already from the beginning of a dancer's career.

Berg (2021) has found that communication between teacher and student in her ballet class consist of vertical supervising which subsidizes a dedicated and focused atmosphere in the studio. Many examples of kinesthetic conversations occurred in Berg's (2021) study in which the teacher demonstrated a movement, or a gesture and the students applied their body memory to implement it. Furthermore, Berg (2021) states that a kinesthetic dialogue between the teacher and the student contributes to individualized alterations of the movement material which provides an increased understanding of the students' motor repertoire knowledges. Chappell (2007) argues that teaching creativity or creative dance can both be conveyed in a physical and embodied way, but also with a language-based approach. The research of both Berg (2021) and Chappell (2007) suggest that a combination of bodily teaching demonstration and the use of linguistics will contribute to an increased understanding of dance. Bannerman (2014) mentions that if someone refers to the word "cat", people will visualize or think about the animal. Consequently, if a choreographer or a teacher relate movements to origins people know about, it may be easier to describe the quality of the movement or the movement's expression.

Berg (2021) has additionally found that an effective way of communicating knowledge to the students in ballet class is by giving individual corrections rather than giving verbal feedback for the whole group. Tactile communication can be essential and relevant in dance to support students' understanding of, for instance, directions or drive and to contribute to a physical sensation of the movements. Østern and Dahl (2019) states that relations, emotions and communication between the teacher and the student will occur

by applying a physical and bodily style of education, which will influence the students learning. Ørbæk (2021) has researched bodily learning in creating dance in Norwegian physical education teacher education, and she mentions that one of her participants explores her ways of moving more when dancing with someone she knows well, compared to moving according to the class's norms. The same participant also states that by being confident and by being in a safe space, she can move freely and exploratory with movement patterns she normally would do by herself behind closed doors (Ørbæk, 2021).

Given that Ørbæk´s study explores communication in choreographic education in Norway, I find it relevant to consider Ørbæk´s work. Furthermore, it is relevant to mention that other researchers, such as Østern and Dahl and Østern and Hovik as cited above, are also situated in Norway and therefore worth considering for this study. Considering that this research explores communication in contemporary choreographic processes in Norway particularly, it is significant to investigate Norwegian literature within the field. It seems like within the existing literature that choreographic education has the potential to activate and consider communication in choreographic process. Literature about communication in choreographic education can therefore be supportive and valuable to deliberate in the exploration of communication in choreographic processes. "

2.4 Summary

Literature regarding communication in different aspects of creative practices and choreographic processes have given a deeper understanding of how communication in choreography making can be recognised. The chosen literature and theories have opened for exploration about what is relevant and interesting for communication between professional dancers in choreographic processes and has allowed the study to consider what can be engaging for further exploration. Several previous articles have emphasised the communication between the choreographer and the dancer, or the teacher and the student. And some articles have even studied the language of dance and a particular choreographic or collaborative process, or intercultural communication in choreographic processes. All these aspects are significant and valuable for this study in which they offer viewpoints and perceptions of communication in choreographic processes. However, to my knowledge there is little research on the communication amongst the dancers that are working as both dancers and choreographers. I therefore find this study significant, and together with the already existing literature I believe that this research can discover enriched and different characteristics of communication in contemporary choreographic processes.

3 Methodology

This chapter shares the methodology and methods used in the research on communication in contemporary choreographic processes. The first section reflects on qualitative research as an approach to this study and continues by explaining ethnography and autoethnography as the chosen methodologies. Subsequently, my position as the researcher is shared and discussed. The following section will delve deeper into interviews and auto narratives that were used to collect the data. Data analysis, ethical considerations and challenges and limitations are finally deliberated in relation to the selected methodologies and methods.

3.1 Research framework

In this section, qualitative research as an approach is considered. Its relevance and significance in relation to the research question will be explained. After reflecting on the use of qualitative research, ethnography as the methodology will be considered and explained. I aim to be a participant on a comparable extent as the two other participants. Therefore, autoethnography will also be discussed as an applicable and required methodology for this research. Finally, my position as the researcher will be deliberated to consider the role as an insider-outsider researcher.

3.1.1 Qualitative research

Brinkmann and Tanggaard (2012) argue that there is no common definition of what qualitative research is or what the diverse approaches to qualitative research are. Denzin and Lincoln (2017) also argue that qualitative research is complicated to define. However, qualitative research often means that the researcher is interested in how something is done, understood, experienced, or developed (Brinkmann & Tanggaard, 2012). Denzin and Lincoln (2017) mention that qualitative research additionally can be understood as a way of accepting disagreements and perceptions, and obtaining the directions that occurs when it comes to findings. This study explores qualitative research as a way of discovering the participants and my own experiences, understandings and interpretations of contemporary choreographic processes in Norway. The study aims to grasp the participants original and spontaneous perspectives on communication within the Norwegian choreographic field. I therefore find qualitative research relevant and significant for this thesis.

Wertz et al. (2011) states, similarly to Brinkmann and Tanggaard, that qualitative knowledge can provide an understanding of the context, the product, and the importance of what is being studied. Qualitative research provides the study with unique and advanced knowledge about communication and its significance within a choreographic context. Qualitative research is questioning the "what?" of the phenomenon, and this "what?" can also give an indication of the practice of the "how?" (Wertz et al., 2011). As qualitative research considers the "what" and "how" of an issue, the participants can subsidise the study with a detailed and distinct perception of communication in choreographic processes. Hence, the research can foster an in-depth understanding of the topic in which the participants get to share their individual experiences with communication in choreographic work. In addition, Denzin and Lincoln (2017) state that there are several ways to do qualitative research, such as through ethnography and interviews. By utilizing ethnography, autoethnography, interviews and auto narratives in this study, I aim to explore and discover different experiences on communication in

Norwegian choreographic processes to contribute to further understandings of how choreography can emerge. The upcoming section will discuss the role of ethnography for the study.

3.1.2 Ethnography

Ethnography is the chosen methodology for this study, and together with autoethnography the purpose is to explore essential features of communication in contemporary choreographic processes in Norway. Not only is this study exploring choreography making in Norway, but it is also investigating contemporary dance and looks at communication methods within one group of dancers. Below, I will discuss what ethnography is and deliberate why ethnography can provide this study with meaningful knowledge and valuable viewpoints.

Johannessen et al. (2010) state that ethnography is a description of a group's actions, occurrences and interactions. According to Denzin and Lincoln (2017), ethnography is a methodology in which the researcher "is there" and is researching the whole of a culture, such as a bounded neighbourhood or a workplace. The two participants and I have a contextual understanding of communication in choreographic processes in Norway from engaging with diverse choreographers, pedagogues, and dancers. In addition, the three of us are frequently working collaboratively and the study enlightens our understandings and interactions within diverse communication practices. An ethnographic approach in this study might therefore provide an attentiveness towards the social and cultural factors that shapes communication in choreographic processes. Hammersley (2018) mentions that there is a definition problem in the ethnographic field in which researchers look at the term in different ways. Nevertheless, Hammersley (2018) has made a list of diverse definitions of ethnography. Hammersley (2018) states on this list that ethnography is taking place in intuitively occurring settings, it is concentrating on the value of people and their attentiveness towards an activity or a culture. Given that the study investigates individuals' actions, interactions and understandings within a particular dance field and as the individuals' experiences within this field is the attention of the research, I find ethnography to be a valuable methodology.

My own experiences from choreographic processes in Norway are also relevant for this study in which my previous involvements and understandings of communication are equally important to the other participants perspectives. Therefore, I do not only utilize ethnography, but I also explore autoethnography in this study. Hence, through an ethnographic and an autoethnographic approach I can investigate social and cultural aspects that can influence how dancers communicate in contemporary choreographic processes.

3.1.3 Autoethnography

As my engagement and curiosity for the inquiry descend from a fascination of my previous processes of communication in choreographic work, I find it reasonable and noteworthy to take part in this research as a participant. Autoethnography is when the researchers involve themselves in their inquiry (Butz & Besio, 2009). Butz and Besio (2009) indicates that autoethnography as reflexive ethnography is a way of studying and considering the researchers life, understandings, and feelings. Autoethnography have provided the research with an insight to my reflective perspectives on communication in choreographic processes in the Norwegian context. However, there are some critics

towards autoethnography as a methodology in which it remains dedicated to traditional principles of impartiality and proof (Adams et al., 2021). Bochner and Ellis (2016) witness that some find autoethnography too artistic and not accurate, viewing autoethnographers as second-rate writers or poets. Nevertheless, I consider data from autoethnographic studies as unique and as a changed way to explore research topics as it can offer the participants realities.

According to Adams et al. (2021), autoethnography consist of three characteristics, such as "auto", "ethno" and "graphy", where "auto" is the self, "ethno" is the culture and "graphy" is the story. Adams et al. (2021) argues that the "auto" in autoethnography constitutes the researcher's personal experiences and mentions that researchers of autoethnography often engage with other participants through interviews. This can provide vulnerable and emotional reflections to make sense of a phenomenon through interaction with others (Adams et al., 2021). By interacting and engaging with two other participants with experience from Norwegian choreographic processes, the study aims to achieve informed research where several voices are offered. Given that I will be a contributor alongside the two other participants, it is essential to now discuss my position as the researcher.

3.1.4 My position as the researcher

This study is an investigation of communication between dancers within contemporary choreographic processes in Norway of which I am also a part of. My position as the researcher is therefore based on my role as both a moderator as a researcher, and a research participant at the same time. According to Butz and Besio (2009) an insider role is the same as being a complete member, in which the researcher study sa group of people or a circumstance they are already a part of. Butz and Besio (2009) additionally claims that this "insiderness" is being used as a methodological device for the study. As a contributor through the interviews, my auto narratives and through my research, I hold both an insider and an outsider role. My unique perspective as both an insider and an outsider in coherence with the two other participants professional experience, contributes to extensive information about different characteristics of communication in choreographic processes.

Merriam et al. (2001) state that the outsider role is seen as someone who is non-aligned with the culture and can be explained as someone who is genuinely curious abort unfamiliar topics. By simply reflecting upon problematic or taboo questions the outsider can receive and collect a lot of new material (Merriam et al., 2001). By being the researcher and by guiding the interviews, I will have an outsider role in which I will never be only an insider in my own study. The topic examined is at the same time not unfamiliar to me as a researcher, as I had knowledge about the topic before the interviews started through my own education and prior experiences. I therefore only initiated the interviews and guided the participants through when needed. Whenever the conversation was flowing, I reflected on the questions together with my participants. By doing so, the interview setting allowed me to be an equal participant. I could then consider the questions in relation to my own previous experiences with communication within the contemporary choreographic field.

From my personal experiences as a dance student for 11 years and as a professional contemporary dancer for four years, I have gained knowledge from diverse choreographic processes as well as establishing a career within the Norwegian dance

field. I have experience from dance-making processes both in Norway and in England, and I therefore value my own perspectives and experiences for this study. Dwyer and Buckle (2009) argues that by being an insider there is an expected mutual understanding, and the participants may therefore be more open to share their experiences. I consequently find the insider role meaningful for my research, to attain an authentic and consistent study. Moreover, stimulating interaction between me and the informants provides information through synergy effects that occur when we react and build responses on each other's viewpoints. This provides extensive data relevant to explore and answer the research question, and consequently make the study valid.

There are some strengths having an insider-outsider role in the study. By participating in the same field, I can relate and authentically understand the different perceptions of communication in contemporary choreographic processes. Merriam et al. (2001) mentions that having an insider-outsider role, both as a contributor and as a researcher, means that I will be able to ask meaningful questions and project a more honest understanding. On the other hand, it can be challenging to have an insider role. It was challenging in terms of making the interviews as similar as possible without having influenced one interview more than the other. As a moderator, I should perhaps ideally take a secluded position. Furthermore, it is my role as a moderator to encourage everyone to speak freely, while guiding the conversation based on the interview guide and the research question. It is challenging to be sufficiently objective in the interview situation. However, to ensure reliability I tried to balance my role between being a co-creator in the production of data and not affect or dominate the informants too much.

Together, the participants and I, could acquire knowledge about communication in contemporary choreographic processes, and at a later stage improve our practice. I believe that my position as an insider-outsider has been beneficial for the study. It contributed to nuanced information and new-thinking results in which we together found the words to express ourselves. This also facilitated a more relaxed interview atmosphere where we together could question our own statements and thoughts, as well as exploring other relevant issues that came up throughout the interviews. Dwyer and Buckle (2009) states that people will always be closer to an insider or an outsider position as the researcher. Nevertheless, by being the researcher who has read literature on the field, I can not only be an insider or an outsider. Having an insider-outsider role is the most reasonable and advantageous position of me as the researcher in this study. I will now explain the methods utilized in the research.

3.2 Methods

This section will discuss the choice of methods for the study in relation to my main research question: How might three contemporary professional dancers experience communication in choreographic processes?

Two professional dancers have been interviewed regarding their experiences with communication in professional contemporary choreographic processes. Two of the participants are anonymous, however, the third participant is me, the researcher. I therefore have conducted two interviews, one with each participant. I was participating in both interviews as a contributor. Both interviews were conducted in the same day, in two different cafes. The café atmosphere was an intentional choice in which it is not too formal, and I wanted the participants to experience the interview as relaxed and

comfortable. The interviews lasted for approximately 50 minutes, and the whole interview was recorded to create a confident and fluent dialogue. Furthermore, this section discusses in detail how and why semi-structured interviews and auto narratives are used in this research to provide the study with understandings of communication in contemporary choreographic processes. The section will also contemplate how the data was analyzed, what the ethical considerations are, and what the challenges and limitations of the research have been.

3.2.1 Interviews

In this research, interviews are one of the main methods used. Two professional contemporary dancers with diverse experiences within choreographic processes were asked to participate in the research. Interviews are the most common approach to qualitative research, and in some subject, it has become one of the most essential empirical methods (Brinkmann & Tanggaard, 2012). Interviews allowed me to explore the participants perceptions and patterns of communication in choreographic processes in contemporary dance. I could understand their communication approaches in relation to their experiences from choreographic education and the professional dance field in Norway. Brinkmann and Tanggaard (2012) mention that as interviews are happening in a relational situation, the interaction with the participant is crucial when it comes to the potential outcome of the interview. Doing the interviews as a qualitative study face to face, provides a more authentic experience and understanding of the phenomenon compared to writing (Brinkmann & Tanggaard, 2012). I conducted both interviews face to face. I experienced that as useful as it was interactional and a more personal way of communicating with the participants. This gave me as the researcher a clearer picture of their experiences in which the participants could spontaneously share their viewpoints, as well as they got the opportunity to ponder upon the interview questions together with me. Interviews face to face also allowed me to ask questions whilst observing the participants reactions and body language while talking. Moreover, Wertz et al. (2011) mentions that in qualitative interviews it is essential to ask suitable questions and to use analytical, careful, and systematic practices to respond to them, as it is vital to achieve additional knowledge and science. I made sure the questions were clear and well formulated, and I repeated myself if necessary. I also made sure that my response to the participant answers were respectable so that they experienced me as open for further dialogue. Johannessen et al. (2010) argues that qualitative interviews are suitable as it gives the participants more freedom to express themselves, and that the participants experiences can be shared in an enriched way if they get to actively anticipate what is being discussed. By letting the participants see the interview guide throughout the interview and by allowing additional questions to arise and be discussed, the interview felt natural and effortless.

Johannessen et al. (2010) mentions that interviews are used to understand and describe something, and that interviews are structured more as a dialogue rather than just question being answered. Interviews are a way of communicating with the participants about their experiences, attitudes, and life stories (Brinkmann & Tanggaard, 2012). For this master thesis, interviews have therefore been conducted and chosen as an efficient method to discover data. Denzin and Lincoln (2017) mention that no method can be privileged over the others. However, to discover the participants experiences and understandings of communication within the contemporary choreographic field, I believe that interviews have provided the study with an in-depth outline of the participants

familiarities. Brinkmann and Tanggaard (2012) argues that interviews will provide an increased understanding of the participants involvements in the world and can therefore contribute to the development of new theories. Denzin and Lincoln (2017) additionally argue that the researcher will adopt views and comprehensions of the individuals being studied. Considering the research question and my curiosity for this study, I find interviews significant as it allows the participants to share their experiences and perspectives from the choreographic field in an articulated way. Interviews can thus be a way of discovering authentic stories and in-depth knowledges from professionals in the field. By utilizing interviews, I have embraced several new perspectives and attitudes on communication within professional contemporary choreographic processes. I find this valuable for my research because it corresponds with the study's research inquiry. I will now delve into the use of semi-structured interviews for the study.

3.2.2 Semi-structured interviews

For this master thesis, semi-structured interviews were conducted. Semi-structured interviews have been the principal approach to interviews within modern interview research and ethnographic research (Brinkmann & Tanggaard, 2012). A semi-structured interview will contain a list of topics to discuss or ask general questions regarding the issue, and the interviewer can choose to go back to questions and go further into what is being deliberated (Johannessen et al., 2010). In this study the list contained issues such as verbal and non-verbal approaches to communication, efficient communication, communication in pedagogical situations and communication whilst physically moving. Similarly, Brinkmann and Tanggaard (2012) states that the interview should be structured and have a specific purpose; however, it should feel like a natural conversation. Through semi-structured interviews I aimed to encourage a cooperative and unrestricted dialogue that facilitated a spontaneous atmosphere where the participants allowed themselves to express and deliberate personal experiences. The semi-structured interviews allowed me to investigate and challenge the participants and my own experiences with the dynamics of collaboration and communication amongst dancers in choreographic processes within contemporary dance in Norway.

I planned for me and the other participants to alternate and ask two questions each to emphasise that I was not the strict and traditional interviewer. However, taking turns on asking questions from the interview guide did not work the way I imagined. This was simply because I asked a lot of the question I wanted to ask as follow-up questions, and the next question on the list had therefore already been discussed. Regardless of this, the other participants managed to ask a few questions and they could see the interview guide the whole way though in which I did not just have the laptop in front of me as a panel between us. According to Brinkmann and Tanggaard (2012) and Johannessen et al. (2010), semi-structured interviews consist of an interaction between the interviewer's questions and the interviewees response to them, and it is specified that semi-structured interviews are often recorded digitally or on a sound tape. The voice recordings allowed me to interact with the participants as well as it allowed me to be a participant in that moment. This interaction provided a more natural dialogue and we managed to discuss the questions in an elegant and fluent way. Brinkmann and Tanggaard (2012) state that the interviewer can deviate from the interview guide to go further into what the interviewees share. The interaction in between the interviewer and the interviewee can therefore contribute to a more open dialogue and hopefully a more joyful experience for all participants. Consequently, the researcher can ask additional questions to get an

increased understanding of the interviewee's experiences with the topic and achieve valuable insights for the development of the study. As this study is also exploring the researchers auto narratives, I will in the next section explain the significance of this in relation to this research.

3.2.3 Auto narrative

Narratives are "a look at a story of self" (Hamilton et al., 2008, p. 17). I have integrated my own perspectives on communication in choreographic processes to capture my own interest and relation to the research question. In autoethnographic study's narratives focuses on the authors circumstances and experiences to understand a social or cultural phenomenon (Butz & Besio, 2009). The phenomenon is investigated through the experiences and understandings of the two participants, as well as my own auto narratives. As the two participants and I have collaborated choreographically in several dance projects within the Norwegian contemporary dance field, it is particularly captivating to outline our different experiences with communication in choreographic processes. The semi-structured interviews allowed the participants and me to explore the questions together. Both the participants and me responded to the questions which offered both contrasting and similar understandings, as well as it provided additional questions and new reflections concerning the research question. Butz and Besio (2009) state that ethnographic studies frequently explore personal narratives as an approach to include affect and emotion into the analyses. My own experiences seen in relation to relevant literature and theory, and the two other participants contributions, have given this study personal yet enlightening information regarding several characteristics of communication in choreographic processes in Norway. From analysing the interview data from the two semi-structured interviews I have uncovered and achieved an increased understanding of my own viewpoints on communication. The thesis therefore highlights different features of communication through three professional dancer's views on its potential meaning and functionality. The auto narratives have hence been a powerful approach to apprehend subjective experiences and allowed me to challenge both my own and the two participants perceptions of communication in choreographic processes within contemporary dance, with the opportunity to unwrap supplementary perspectives. The next section elaborates on how the above data was analysed.

3.2.4 Data analysis

The data from the interviews and my auto narratives have been analysed in an attentive way. Through applying the step-by-step guide from Braun and Clarke (2006), I used a thematic analysis to study the data in a reflective and valuable way. Underneath the data analysis is explain with more complexity.

Johannessen et al. (2010) argues that analysis of qualitative data includes processing text that needs to be studied. In the beginning of the process, I was considering taking notes throughout the interviews to write down personal thoughts that came up to deeper understand the participants reflections. However, I realised that it could disturb the natural flow of the conversation, and particularly the concept of me being an insider and an equivalent contributor. Therefore, the process of administering text in this research, is the analysis of the recorded and transcribed interviews and my written auto narratives in relation to the other participants ideas. Brinkmann and Tanggaard (2012) states that the transcription of the interviews is a way of putting the verbal interviews into a written transcript. The interviews were transcribed in a word document which made it more

manageable to examine. The interviews were translated whilst transcribed in which the interviews were conducted in Norwegian. The two interviews were later transcribed and organised into two separate documents to better recognise and interpret who said what and when. In addition, I colour coded the interviews to keep track of what the interviewees said and what I said, as both a researcher and a participant, in relation to their contributions.

Brinkmann and Tanggaard (2012) claims that transcription of a verbal interview can be difficult in which the written text can lose dynamics and other essential elements that helps the interviewer understand the participants opinions. Body language, irony, and full stops, for instance, will be more problematical to acknowledge and recognise from a verbal recording (Brinkmann & Tanggaard, 2012). Subsequently, the transcription phase is complicated, and the researcher must do the work in a concentrated and dedicated way to make sure that the participants contributions will be conveyed in their intentional way. The transcription stage was carefully planned in which I knew how to do the transcriptions in a way that could be beneficial for my data. For example, I made sure that the translations were correct so that the participants contributions would be accurate to the Norwegian version. To ensure consistency, I transcribed both interviews in the same way so that I operated with the same approach on both.

Johannessen et al. (2010) mentions that in an ethnographic analysis, the interpretation of the data is essential. However, Johannessen et al. (2010) also claim that the researcher must look beyond the data material and try to understand how the inquiry essentially appears and investigate how the meaning-making process transpires within a culture. By exploring the two interviews and seeing them next to each other I managed to notice where the participants agreed and disagreed, as well as reflecting upon the underlying causes for their answers. Seen in relation to theory and literature I investigated and unpacked how their responses and my auto narratives could be understood and perceived. This provided a sense of how dancers communicate in contemporary choreographic processes in Norway. Incorporating my auto narratives was a reflective process that required me to delve into my previous experiences of communication in contemporary choreographic processes. Given that I took part in the interviews, several narratives had already emerged. However, I considered how previous situations have shaped my understanding of communication and explored them in relation to the two other participants perspectives. I looked for themes within my own stories to truly comprehend my own understandings and started writing it as narratives. I later explored the transcribed interviews to gain a detailed understanding of what was essentially said by the participants, and to discover how my auto narratives could be interpreted in the study together with their experiences. However, including my auto narratives have been a continuous exploration throughout the process as I have remembered new experiences that have provided the study with valuable insights.

Brinkmann and Tanggaard (2012) introduces the analysis process as a way of breaking the features down to reduced fragments and then putting them together as a whole to discover new fundamentals of the study. Brinkmann and Tanggaard (2012) add that the researcher often wants to put elements into different categories depending on their areas of interests. I consequently conducted a thematic analysis to structure and categorise the data from the two interviews and my auto narratives. Thematic analysis is, according to Scharp and Sanders (2019), a qualitive method to identify and examine designs within the data collection. In thematic analysis the researcher needs to emphasise if and how a

set of information answers the research question in a significant way, rather than concentrating on the amount of data (Scharp & Sanders, 2019). Braun and Clarke (2006) have made a step-by step guide on how to conduct thematic analysis that I chose to follow in my analysis phase. The step-by-step guide claims that the researcher should 1) get familiar with the collected data, 2) generate codes, 3) search for themes, 4) evaluation of the themes, 5) describe and label the themes and 6) produce a report and create a write-up (Braun & Clarke, 2006, p. 87). I found it challenging to follow the guide mechanically. Therefore, I explored the guide in an adapted and appropriate way so that I could discover key findings from the two semi-structured interviews and my auto narratives. Further elaboration on my use of the step-by-step guide is explained underneath.

After doing the interviews I transcribed them, as mentioned above, so that I could thematize the data to obtain a better overview of the material. I broke down the interviews into smaller pieces, by structuring aspects of communication into themes of language-based dialogue and kinesthetic dialogue that I found significant for this research. I looked at how verbal and non-verbal communication is seen from both the participants and my own's perspective by looking at our collective choreographic processes. Belotto (2018) mentions that by coding the data with labels, he manages to discover patterns that directs his data into groups of categories. Similarly, to what Belotto mentions here, I made one category for each new feature that I discovered. I had one word document for each interview to always remember who each statement came from. I kept repeating this process until I could no longer uncover any new data that was interesting for this research regarding communication in contemporary choreographic processes. I likewise analyzed the auto narratives that occurred from studying the interviews. I deliberated how my experiences companion the two other participants understandings of communication in addition to my own responses from the interviews. By investigating the data from the interviews several times, I ascertained additional indepth information regarding the research question. The ethnographic and autoethnographic approach have given the study a nuanced understanding of how dancers in choreographic processes in the Norwegian contemporary dance field communicate. The methodologies also enlighten cultural and social characteristics of communication that shape and support the developments of contemporary choreographic processes. The following section looks at the ethical considerations that was reflected upon to enable a safe research project.

3.2.5 Ethical considerations

The research project was approved by the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU) and NSD. This approval was gained before the interviews were arranged and conducted.

Several ethical concerns were considered in advance and throughout the entire process of the research. The participants were asked to be a part of the study through a written consent form. Their participation was entirely voluntary, and they could withdraw from the study when the research was still in progress without a particular reason to do so. The questions and topics discussed in the interviews allowed the participants to share experiences in a way that was open and conversational. Nevertheless, the interview questions were made to reflect and to share personal perspectives on communication in choreographic processes. The questions required an open dialogue in which the participants could also be critical to the questions raised, and their individual and honest

opinions was vital for the study. The questions could, however, potentially provoke the participants to reflect and distribute experiences they were not comfortable with sharing. It was therefore essential with a voluntarily contribute and to allow the participants to affect the directions of the interviews through the semi-structured interviews.

The participants identities are anonymous, and I am avoiding using their real names and qualifications. It is only the participants career experiences form choreographic processes in Norway that are being shared, yet in a respectable and confidential way. The participants have pseudonyms which will keep their identities concealed yet guide the reader with a continuity in their reading of the text.

The two participants were given the opportunity to read and comment on the transcribed interviews before I started the analysis phase of my research. I did so to make sure that there was no misunderstandings or statements that the participants did not agree with. It was vital in which their accurate experiences were preferred for this thesis to get a clear understanding of the material. Besides, the participants viewpoints could have changed during the process, and it was essential to allow them to go through it before it potentially would be used in my analysis part of the study.

The data material is stored safely. I used the app "Diktafon" to record the interviews which sent the tape to my NTNU student account, where a password is needed for access. The written interview transcripts are securely saved on my laptop, which also require a personal password to enter. The consent forms are stored separately from the data on the same laptop. The material is saved for as long as the master project is ongoing and will be deleted when the research process finishes. The next section explains the challenges and limitations that occurred during this research period.

3.2.6 Challenges and limitations

Some challenges and limitations did occur in this research project. Prior to the research process I was aware of some challenges and limitations, such as the ones mentioned in the section of ethical considerations. However, some additional difficulties did emerge during the process. A challenge for this study was the participants relationship to me as the researcher. While this did not seem to be a particular problem, it was indeed an issue that deserved attention. Given that the participants have known about my interest in communication in choreographic processes in advance of the research, their answers might have been affected to some extent. Therefore, the participants might have responded with what they consider useful information rather than their true opinions. However, I additionally experience their relationship to me as the researcher as advantageous in which their trust in me gave them an opportunity to share their authentic viewpoints. My objectivity as a friend, colleague and researcher was hence challenging to differentiate.

Coleman's (2018) arguments regarding challenges within collective processes when it comes to styles of leadership, as mentioned previously in the literature review, was another challenge with this study. I believe that the participants did not want to assault anyone, and especially not their friends or colleagues, and that it therefore possibly could be challenging to always remain truthful and straightforward in the interview. Perhaps especially if the participants or my own opinions were critical or less approving towards the person attending the interview at that time. I was afraid that the participants found it problematic or awkward to discuss certain situations or aspects of our collective

choreographic processes as they could be afraid to appear negative towards someone else within the group. To respect the participants boundaries and urge to share opinions of our close friendship and collaborative choreographic work, it was sometimes difficult to challenge their responses in a meaningful way. I was clear with the participants that they could be honest in the interviews, but that it also was up to them in what extent they wanted to share their perspectives.

Another possible challenge was my role as an insider-outsider researcher. I was worried that the participants would perceive me as only the researcher rather than an equal participant. It was crucial to contribute to an inclusive atmosphere where the participants got a sensation of being active contributors with me, rather than only being interviewed by an outsider researcher. However, it was additionally challenging for me to separate my own role as the researcher and a participant. Given my experience and interest for communication in choreographic processes, it was challenging to avoid leading the interviews. I had to make sure that I created space for the participants to freely reflect and consider their own perspectives on communication in contemporary choreographic processes.

By researching communication with an ethnographic and an autoethnographic perspective, a limitation might be how the two participants and myself are representing the approaches to communication within contemporary choreographic processes in Norway. How can three contemporary dancers with experience from similar professional choreographic processes contribute to a collective understanding of communication? Denny and Weckesser (2022) argue that qualitative research is about an interest in the participants perspective and experiences, and that semi-structured interviews cover few issues in great depth. Denny and Weckesser (2022) also state that the study sample size of qualitative research tends to be little, and that qualitative data is not fixed or quantifiable. I believe that the two participants and my own experiences are off great value and that our contributions have provided useful knowledge about alternative ways of communication in choreographic processes. Because of the scope of a master thesis, I cannot include many contemporary dancers in the field to achieve a more comprehensive overview of communication. The complexity and depth of the semi-structured interviews can clearly provide sufficient information to be able to explore communication in choreographic processes in an advanced way.

Finally, another limitation might be the country the study is conducted in. Given that the research is emerging in Norway, I can only assume that the findings apply to Norwegian choreographic processes. Even though one participant and I have studied abroad, this does not count as professional experience in this study considering the participants was still dance students.

3.3 Summary

This chapter has offered an outline of the methodology and methods explored in the study. The qualitative approach can give the research valuable insight to understandings and perceptions of contemporary choreographic processes in Norway. I have conducted semi-structured interviews with an interview guide that allowed me to ask follow-up questions whenever needed. This informal structure of an interview contributed to an open and inclusive dialogue that allowed both the participants and me as the researcher to actively contribute. The two participants reflections and my auto narratives have been

considered in the light of communication in choreographic processes within the Norwegian dance field. Furthermore, this chapter has discussed the methodological approach of ethnography and autoethnography. Ethnography has been explored as a way of understanding a groups actions and interactions and refers to the researcher being present and attendant whilst investigating a culture (Johannessen et al., 2010; Denzin & Lincoln, 2017). The ethnographic approach contributes to an understanding of communication forms that evolves in contemporary choreographic processes, and particularly in the processes of three professional contemporary dancers located in Norway. The chapter has additionally discussed autoethnography in which it can capture a vision of my personal understandings and experiences of communication in choreographic processes.

The chapter reflects on my role as an insider-outsider researcher, where I am both a participant and a researcher. With experience as a professional dancer like the other participants I can connect with their understandings and respond to the inquiries raised together with them. Furthermore, I am an outsider as I am the researcher that guides the interviews and the study. The analysis of the data has also been considered in this chapter. The data is transcribed into two separate word documents, one for each interview. The interviews were translated to English in the transcription phase. By following the step-by-step guide of Braun and Clarke (2006), the data has been familiarised and categorised to be evaluated, understood and generated in relation to communication within choreographic processes. Additionally, the ethical considerations have been carefully contemplated to make sure that the research is done in a protected and harmless way. Challenges and limitations of the study have been shared, including expressing the participants relationship to me. Through these considerations I have achieved an awareness of how to conduct a reflective and safe study for all individuals involved.

4 Results, analysis, and discussion

This chapter offers the results, analysis and discussion of the work related to the main research question: How might three contemporary professional dancers experience communication in choreographic processes? In this chapter I present the results, analysis, and discussion in an incorporated way, drawing on interviews with two participants and my auto narratives, along with relevant theory and literature. Craig (1999), as cited in the literature review, claims that communication is about interaction between individuals who subsequently influence each other. I have consequently looked at how dancers communicate with each other, and how they convey creative ideas and movements in a contemporary choreographic process. From following Braun and Clarke's (2006) step-by-step guide on how to conduct thematic analysis, the chapter explores the results that emerged from this. By incorporating and understanding the findings primarily in relation to the communication theories explained in the literature review: social psychology, kinesthetic dialogue and the "Johari window", this chapter grasps several meanings of communication in choreographic processes.

Within this chapter, I first explore communication as an ongoing practice. Within this section I look at vocalization to communicate movement material and the purpose of revisiting the creative ideas throughout the choreographic process. Secondly, I investigate embodied feelings of communication and what can be seen as interactive and non-verbal communication, such as the application of senses, like a glance and tactile communication. Thirdly, I explore what can be perceived as supportive communication in choreographic processes by looking at it from both a dancer's view and a pedagogue's perspective. Furthermore, the same section explores aspects that might affect the communication practices within a dance-making process, such as through the dancers' relations and choreographic work with not just one leader. Finally, this chapter reflects on communication as a term in choreographic education in connection to the above sections. This is to explore how these concepts and ideas might be facilitated and valued in choreographic education.

4.1 Communication as an ongoing practice

Communication appears every day in interaction with others and is an ongoing practice that is needed to connect with someone (Østern & Hovik, 2017). To communicate with others in a choreographic process can be fundamental in the collaborative development of choreography. As communication is an everyday ongoing practice, it raises a question about professional dancer's communication practices, and likewise the role of communication in choreographic education. Feldman (1999) suggests that conversation appears amongst or between people, and that some exchange of words in the form of dialogue is required to relate with someone. Feldman's proposal might indicate that words are needed to interact with someone, so to collectively make choreography it might be fundamental to utilize verbal communication. This suggestion can be seen in relation to Craig (1999) understanding of social psychology, in which it looks at individuals' ability to connect and interact with others. It also holds significance in relation to Koca and Erigüç (2020) and Graasvold's (2015) description of the "Johari window". An awareness of social psychology and the "Johari window" can contribute to understanding different peoples' behaviors. This understanding can provide a more fluent and accepting communication practice in which the participants can adapt to the other's needs. Particularly considering that communication is an ongoing practice, this knowledge remains valuable. Furthermore, Raman (2009) mentions that collaboration

processes can shape dancers' understandings of movements and can contribute to improved knowledge in which dancers can explore movements verbally. Raman and Feldman's suggestions might propose that verbal communication is necessary to collaborate choreographically with others.

Leah experience that dancers "get forced to use language" as she thinks words are needed to communicate creative ideas. From Leah's statement it could be suggested that even though dancers explore several methods to communicate in choreographic processes beyond talking, words can nevertheless be required. Verbal communication might help formulate creative ideas to be understood through a clear and well-defined description. A focused understanding of the creative idea might consequently provide a rich understanding of the choreographic intention and the movement material. Feldman (1999) claims that people taking part in conversations share knowledge, interpretations, understandings, and emotions connected to the chosen topic. Feldman's indication might identify the significance of conversation in collaborative processes and might designate that language contributes to meaning-making, and therefore new-thinking and individuality. Extending on such ideas, Leah mentions that she thinks it is useful to "know where the movements are coming from" and "the thought behind it" when learning a new movement phrase. This might help her engage with the movements in a more emotional and personal way, and to clearly understand the directions and pathways of the movements. Leah also mentions that by knowing what a movement is supposed to express, such as a "painful" experience, it can contribute to a richer understanding of how to achieve that movement. Gaining a sense of how to express a movement might offer distinctiveness and the opportunity to delve into the personal sensation of the movements.

Verbal communication in contemporary dance seems to be useful for idea sharing and for understanding movements. Offering further information than just the right counts of the movements can allow dancers to explore their own versions of the material. Sometimes a movement phrase might simply be communicated as set movement material with no further exploration, however other times it can be based on an embodied experience like Leah mentioned above. Both versions can though be explained through verbal communication. My auto narrative below suggests how movements can be conveyed verbally with an emphasis on the independent interpretation of the movements.

I remember one time when I was learning a choreography in my foundation course. The dance pedagogue chose to make a story out of teaching the dance, where our first meeting with someone new was the origin of the movements. I remember I struggled to memorize all the movements, probably because I was not used to that way of working. However, I remember that the story gave a collective understanding of the choreography, and the intention came more natural to me. The dance pedagogue managed to integrate intention, quality, and movements in the same explanation.

My experience of learning choreography can be considered as comparable to what Leah shared regarding the use of language in choreographic processes. A collective understanding of the choreography's intention might contribute to a shared interest and enthusiasm towards the creative idea and the generated movements. Even though my experience above might indicate a less regulated description of how to do the movements, utilizing storytelling might encourage a changed and refreshing reaction.

The storytelling practice might consequently provide an understanding of the choreography 's purpose and dynamics, simultaneously as recognizing the actual movements. The dancer's previous life experiences might affect how they embody a sensation and how they explore the feeling of, for instance, "painful" that was previously mentioned by Leah. How dancers' individual experiences from life can affect how they understand something resonates with Giguere 's (2011) claim, in which knowledges from diverse areas in life will together create a choreography. Moreover, Calvo-Merino et al. (2006), cited in the literature review, discuss how individuals understanding of movements will be affected by our previous visual and motor experiences. Subsequently, the dancers' prior experiences of different life situations related to the creative idea can affect how they interact with movements and communicate with each other. It could therefore be understood that the way dancers express themselves through verbal communication in a choreographic process will be affected by the creative idea. This might also influence how others then incorporate the movements into their bodies.

Leah and my own example above, might anticipate that the use of language supports dancers in remembering movements. A verbal exploration of pictures and metaphors to explain movements can provide the dancers with an experience of ownership to the movement material. Only focusing on the same shape of the arm or the direction of the head might be efficient, however, it might not specify how to perform the movements beyond that. Although, some movements might require a straightforward explanation. The next example from Lisa offers a perspective of how verbal communication can be meaningful and advantageous in choreographic education. "There are some things I must say when I teach in choreographic education. Make sure you keep your toes above your knees, for example. Typical technique elements. When you teach students, you must make sure everyone gets it". Verbal communication might be required in choreographic education in which it can support the students' understanding of movements and dance technique. Utilizing verbal communication may provide the students with additional information so that the movements can be experienced as realistic and achievable. Nevertheless, Lisa suggests that dancers "communicate with their bodies in addition to verbal interaction". Harbonnier-Topin and Barbier (2012) support this by arguing that a dance teacher's combination of movement and talking will influence the learners feeling of integration. Moreover, Lord (1981) states that pedagogues in physical education tend to have approximately the same amount of verbal and non-verbal actions when teaching. Lisa's opinion and Lord's statement might raise the question whether there is a counterbalance between verbal and non-verbal communication in contemporary choreographic processes and contemporary choreographic education as they seem to be supported by each other to express movements and creative ideas in functional and constructive ways.

4.1.1 Revisiting the creative idea

The last section shows how verbal communication is central in choreographic processes. It is therefore relevant to explore how verbally revisiting the creative idea throughout the process might contribute to supportive communication, such as collectively understanding the creative idea. The dancers might then experience a more joint involvement in which the movements are explored through a consistent meaning of the chosen issue. In the context of nursing, Binnewies et al. (2007) argue that the different ideas are being shaped and cultivated during creative processes, and that idea communication is a shown practice during the whole creative process. This might suggest that the creative idea can change and shape throughout the process and is not

essentially established from the beginning. As a choreography might develop from joint reflections and idea-sharing, it could be significant to continuously discuss and define what the topic means and explore how that can unfold into movements. Collective knowledge can be a beneficial source when working on a creative idea, and communication about topics is vital for engagement in the creative practice and idea originality (Binnewies et al., 2007). Binnewies et al. (2007) have studied how taking personal initiative and communicating about ideas can be important for the creative process and for idea creativity. Binnewies et al. (2007) found that the more they communicated about their viewpoints, the more they engaged in the work. So, discussing the creative idea frequently is not only noteworthy to understand the intention of the choreography, but it is fundamental for the dancer's commitment and motivation in which they might get an opportunity to develop innovative and advanced perspectives. Leah reflects on why she finds continuous reflections about the creative idea useful in a choreographic process. She argues that "sometimes we can discuss the topic verbally again to refresh our memories and reflect together. She continues by saying that "you might lose the meaning of the choreography when you get deep into it"".

In a longer process of making choreography the intention might get a bit lost in which the idea develops and can accordingly change due to new insights and familiarities regarding the topic. It might therefore be advantageous to revisit the choreographic idea to make sure that everybody has the same understanding of the piece's purpose and to discover other meaningful perspectives about the idea. Leah mentions that the movements can "change their intention" depending on what part of the choreography the dancers chose to use it in. Leah moreover thinks that the verbal reflections are "just words" in which you can "load them with whatever works for you". It could be understood that dancers will interpret the movements in individual ways according to what they believe suit the different parts of the piece, and to distinguish what the intention means to them. Feldman (1999) suggests that conversations between participants can provide answers to questions that are not asked and lead the conversation in new directions. Furthermore, Feldman (1999) has written about the role of conversation in collaborative action research among three groups of teachers. He establishes that the teachers listen to each other and consider what is being said in relation to their own histories, aims and associations (Feldman, 1999). Regular communication considering the creative idea may provide additional inspiration that might contribute to new insights and perspectives of how to perceive the movements. Lisa reflects on the process of decision-making. She highlights her understanding of why exploration of the choreographic idea, through sharing and listening, can be of significance:

We get inspired by each other physically and in the ideas we share. For example, I have this idea or thought, but I think that your idea makes a lot of sense compared to the others. Simply because that person had the best argument in relation to the choreographic topic. But when it comes to the physical part, the part where we move together, we explore more. We can try like this, when you do that, it makes me think about this. We get affected by each other.

Lisa's understanding of decision-making in choreographic processes might propose that by exploring different ideas and thoughts, the dancers can get inspired by each other to uncover advanced and new movements. Consequently, by considering every idea as advantageous or constructive, the participants can exploit the group's potential in the best imaginable way. Binnewies et al. (2007) claim that people in creative processes might discuss ideas that are already confirmed, but that they might also communicate about an unclear idea and find out more about it by discovering other's ideas to develop a solution. Accordingly, by exploring each other's viewpoints the dancers might discover distinctive and applicable understandings of the creative ideas. Feldman (1999) claims that conversation goes beyond chatting in which a conversation has direction that is reliant on the understandings that emerges among the individuals as they converse. The dancers might experience a feeling of engagement and contribution when speaking about the creative idea with others. So, by discussing and reflecting together, original ideas and perceptions can transpire. The process of producing choreography can then grasp new levels of knowledge and expertise. Leah highlights how she experiences conversations throughout the choreographic process. She mentions that it allows her to discover her individual voice in the piece:

To interpret movements is what I really like about contemporary dance because I can put my own value into whatever I am doing. Or my language into what I learn of movement material. I don't like it when it is very set, like this movement is on this count and this arm is supposed to be completely straight. Sometimes I feel like I am losing my voice when we perform a piece especially if it is a choreography of only set and structured movements.

Leah 's statement could suggest that the dancer's autonomy must be valued. Systematic discussions about the creative idea should be prioritized to constantly develop and uncover the topics significance. In accordance with Deci and Ryan's (1985) autonomy orientation, the experience of choice fosters a feeling of autonomy, which can provide inspiration to find a creative solution. If the dancers experience autonomy in the choreographic process, the piece might be valued in a different way as both the purpose and the movements may be more cherished and natural to the dancers' bodies. Another approach to allow personal interpretation of the movements is the exploration of vocalization to communicate movements. Vocalization might give an indication of the movement's purpose and character and might therefore be a vital tool in explaining movements to others. Therefore, I will now discuss how vocalizations can supplement communication with words in choreographic processes.

4.1.2 The feeling of "blah" – Exploring vocalization

The exploration of vocalization to communicate may be an important aspect of communication in choreographic processes in which it might offer new ways of describing and understanding both movements and creative ideas. Keevallik (2021) indicates that vocalization in a dance class is applied to teach movements. Vocalization might, for instance, signify the experiences of embodied sensations and offer tools on how to provide and receive new information. Therefore, it is interesting to uncover examples on how dancers in choreographic processes communicate through vocalizations, in which it appears important and functional in providing understanding of movement materials. Keevallik (2021) found in his study regarding vocalizations in relation to teaching dance that the teachers were expressing a sound during a longer hold of a movement to amplify its length of duration. The use of sound can help the students understand the tempo of the movements, and then possibly memorize it in a better way. Keevallik (2021) confirms this in stating that sounds are used to accompany the students with remembering movements, by which vocalizations can be a useful mnemonic tool. The use of vocalization seems to be a significant tool to communicate structured movements that

are yet open for interpretation. Vocalizations can encourage a feeling of the movements rather than conveying the correct way of doing it. In my auto narrative below, I reflect on my experience of the use of vocalization in hip-hop class. Although my example is situated in hip-hop class, it might resonate with contemporary choreographic processes. This might be because vocalizations can be used to explain movement dynamics and other characteristics, as well as assisting the dancer to memorize the movements. This is applicable in contemporary choreographic processes as well.

In hip-hop class, for example, I often feel a bit lost, simply because it is not the style I am trained to do and because I sometimes find it challenging when it comes to the use of the music. However, I do appreciate how the pedagogues utilize sound to explain the quality and length of the movements. For instance, the teacher can make five sounds in which one of them indicates a full stop. I can sometimes do that when I teach as well. I can hold a sound for a longer or shorter period so that the students understand my use of the music. And especially if the counts are very challenging or fast. This helps me explain the movement and the timing, as well as giving me another way to remember the movements dynamics when I do class myself.

The use of sound supports me in connecting my bodily movements to my intellectual activities through an internal dialogue. Not only because it supports a specific feeling of what the movement is communicating, but as it can suggest a physical action of the body. Keevallik (2013) mentions that embodied demonstrations are frequently supplemented with vocalizations in dance classes, such as singing, clapping, counting rhythms to demonstrate timing, accents, and characters of the movements. In collaborative choreographic work this might transfer to another dancer by means of offering an embodied experience. The use of vocalization may generate a more embodied feeling of the movements as it can give an improved sensation of what, for example, the power and characteristic of the movement is. This can essentially relate to Keevallik's (2021) understanding of the use of onomatopoeia.

Onomatopoeia can be a way of explaining movements, such as a shish sound when sliding on the floor, referring to the authentic sound a slide creates when in contact with the ground (Keevallik, 2021). How the slide is described can affect the movements dynamics and control, and the use of voice volume might give an indication of how energetically the movement should be accomplished. The dancers might then also discover new movement patterns in their bodies from simply sharing and responding to different approaches of conveying bodily actions. Personally, I sometimes explore the use of sound when teaching dance, to explain a movement in a different way than only using words. This can provide the others with useful and needed information to understand the movements and to be able to explore individuality within the set frames. Keevallik (2021) argues that teaching someone else to feel or experience the same through verbal communication often dissatisfies and does not work as desired. Explaining a movement or telling someone how to express a movement through talking might contribute to confusion in which the dancers' experiences of a sensation can be different. Teaching dancers to feel the same way might therefore not be optimal. Hence, by communicating dance with the use of vocalization together with other communication approaches, instead of only applying speaking, understanding and originality of the movements might appear from allowing individual interpretations.

I once explained a movement to my dance students as a "blah" and showed them a movement "simultaneously as making that sound". I told them that it is not about exactly where you place your arm, but rather the feeling of "blah" and what that feels like to you. This does not only resonate with Keevallik's understanding of onomatopoeia in dance, but it also correlates with Yasui (2023) who claims that an instructor for Japanese classical dance synchronized her body movements with sound stretches, tone, volume adjustment and quality of voice. The students found my explanation hard to understand, and I struggled to find the right words to explain this movement because the movements were truly not meant to be clean or symmetrical. Onomatopoeia can provide information that verbal descriptions are unable to manage unaccompanied (Yasui, 2023). Furthermore, I explained the other movements in the phrase in different ways but decided to explore the use of vocalization in the "blah" movement to offer independence and an additional way of interpreting the movements. Lisa responded to my reflection by suggesting that "a dancer can understand a lot of new information from simply hearing the sounds supporting the movements". This might mean that by using sounds to explain movements, the dancers can discover how to understand information in new and different ways that can possibly benefit their learning of making other's movements their own.

Lisa imagines vocalizations to be very "typical in dance", and she argues that "the body just understands it in a strange way". How a dancer explains a movement to another dancer might be fundamental to how the other person embodies that movement. From a pedagogical perspective onomatopoeia will help students concentrate on the symbolic and aesthetic characteristics rather than just moving their bodies (Yasui, 2023). This can relate to the embodied feelings of communication. For instance, if someone is pushing you from the side, you might fall into a position with that feeling in the body, in which it can provide a more realistic sensation rather than a fixed shape. What happens then? What response do the dancers get in their bodies? I will now discuss physical responses within non-verbal communication and explore how the embodied feelings of communication can be understood and experienced within contemporary choreographic processes.

4.2 The embodied feeling of communication

An embodied feeling of communication can include both verbal and non-verbal communication, however it is a way of communicating through physical understandings of movements and what is happening in the space. This chapter though mainly explores the use of non-verbal communication as embodied communication to grasp how dancers can communicate beyond using words in choreographic processes. As mentioned previously, Roche (2018) suggests that non-verbal communication is frequently used in the process of making choreography. From this I understand embodied communication as an exploration of diverse approaches towards recognizing the use bodily senses. Dancers know what is expected of them when it comes to meeting, cooperating, and dancing with somebody non-verbally (Rustad, 2020). Instead of communicating in a literal way, embodied communication might be perceived from the dancers trained social skills and hence their bodily understandings of what others communicate. Berg's (2021) communication theory regarding kinesthetic dialogue have provided an understanding of embodied communication by examining how individuals can respond to each other through non-verbal communication. The communication theory about kinesthetic dialogue have truly given this section an attentiveness towards the transfer of skills and

artistry that can arise through non-verbal communication in choreography making. Rustad (2020) argues that due to the socialization of contact improvisation movers, they are able to connect through physical touch because of similar knowledge and experiences from dance. In the auto narrative below, I reflect on my experience of how dancers can communicate through physical contact in contemporary choreographic processes without using verbal communication to do so:

In lifts, you meet someone, and you must communicate. Ok, I have got you now, or I don't. And you need to identify that without talking. I can feel it in my body when we are in the right position for the lift or not.

The embodied feeling of communication can be a way of collaborating with others. It might include responding to others by understanding their use of, for instance, physical touch or glance. Davies and Leach (2022) claim that dance making is a process of exploring concepts, feelings, space, and time, and consequently undertake that sharing of dance knowledge is happening through non-verbal communication. How do dancers share expertise and information if it is happening through a non-verbal approach? Leah though reflects on embodied communication, where she refers to the use of images to provide a collective understanding, such as stating "we are in space" or "there is cotton between us". Yasui (2023) suggests that it is significant to provide the dancers with features of the movements driven by emotions or images. Although Leah's suggestion and Yasui's (2023) claim does not necessarily relate to non-verbal communication, images might provide an embodied understanding of the movements. Enabling dancers to visualize a sensation associated with a previous experience, can facilitate embodied communication. Embodied communication is explored in this thesis as a way of understanding communication between dancers in choreographic processes beyond just talking about movements and creative ideas. Below the research goes deeper into discussing embodied communication by exploring senses such as glance and tactile communication. The first sub-section is exploring the use of senses as non-verbal communication and discusses the embodied ways of understanding communication in contemporary choreographic processes in relation to that.

4.2.1 An exploration of sensory communication

To communicate in choreographic processes, other communication forms than just verbal dialogue may be required to define, understand, and respond to creative ideas. When learning a new movement phrase, dancers might apply several senses to interpret it accurately in their bodies. To be conscious about spacing, physical touch, timing, and impulsive changes, can be examples of why all human senses might be vital when it comes to communication in contemporary dance. The skin is, for instance, one of the most central intelligences of the human's sense organ, and it is often taken for granted (Lafrance, 2018). So, how can the skin help dancers communicate? Vionnet (2021) refers to her experiences of contact improvisation and mentions that she learned to expand her attentiveness between the front and the back to notice where other dancers were in the space. Dancers might have the unique ability of bring attention towards the space and subsequently perceiving what is happening anywhere the eye cannot grasp. As a professional dancer, I have often explored how I can connect with the other dancers without physically seeing them, to notice what the other dancers in the room are doing. I have then recognized that I must apply supplementary methods of attention, such as sensing with my skin.

Contact improvisation dancers can recognize what is happening and adjust themselves even when being upside down, as well as sensing the others and still stay aligned (Rustad, 2020). This statement might evidence the importance of understanding embodied communication in contemporary choreographic processes to enable an awareness of the other dancers when required. I have reflected on being connected to myself as an important aspect to how I connect and respond to the other dancers:

What you do affects everyone. And I think in relation to the beginning of a process, that being in contact with myself also affects how I can connect with you. Because if I am not able to breathe, especially when you two (Lisa and Leah) do your lift and I pull out for a moment and I after a while approach Lisa, I need to be attached to myself to do that. If not, it doesn't make sense for me to approach her, and I will not meet her physically in the same way. Then it will only be choreographic, and nothing more to it.

My auto narrative might propose the significance of being in communication with ourselves whilst moving. By being connected to our own understandings of the creative idea, dancers can explore the different senses of the body to connect with others both supportively and authentically. This can be understood from the perspective of social psychology (Craig, 1999) and the "Johari window" (Koca & Erigüç, 2020; Graasvold, 2015). A situation like the one described above might encourage the dancers to understand each other's dynamics and interpersonal connections to communicate in an efficient and understandable way. Vionnet (2021) claims that she has learned how to accomplish several fundamentals of dance simultaneously in which she, for instance, manages to listen whilst moving and receiving while giving. To communicate with others in a choreographic process it can be vital to cognitively recognize what the group needs in that moment, which might mean that dancers apply respective senses to communicate as a group. Rustad (2020) argues that bodily knowledge is required to do a lift in dance. This makes me think that a dancer with embodied understandings of dance will most likely sense when the partner has found a suitable position to accomplish the move without losing valued bodily contact. Previous experience from tactile communication in dance and competence to explore physical touch might have contributed to enhanced embodied expertise.

Dancers might read each other's purposes before the movement itself unfolds in which the dancers need to apply a constant attentiveness towards listening with tactile communication (Rustad, 2020). The use of tactile actions may be an important element in recognizing each other whilst moving and moreover understand the meaning of a touch to respond in a functional way. Leah reflects on her understanding of tactile communication in dance and how she experiences the impact of a physical touch:

I think it is a tension we get, in which our bodies lock if something is not right. I am thinking particularly about that rehearsal for Olivia's choreography, where we were lifting each other across the floor...it was a lot of communication. You could feel when you got a heavy hand on your shoulder, and you knew that you needed to be steady. Because something might be wrong behind me, and it is important that I am as secure as possible. But if you receive a hand that is completely controlled, I think you can be more flowy and approaching in your body.

Leah's suggestion that the weight of the touch can influence how another dancer responds might resonate with my auto narrative above. The way a dancer approaches another dancer can affect the physical responses emerging. A physical touch can provide a lot of information, as the weight of the touch can indicate what role the dancer wants to take (Vionnet, 2021). Perhaps a heavy touch can signify a manipulative approach whereas a calm touch can be more inviting? The tension in the body may indicate if the dancer is ready to do a lift or not, in which people may tend to get inflexible or rigid in the body if they are not physically prepared. Receiving a calm response from another dancer might signify a more approaching and cooperative understanding of the collaborative movements. The load of the touch that Leah is talking about can be a suitable example of why sensing with the skin can be significant in contemporary choreographic processes, particularly to enable valid and helpful non-verbal communication. Furthermore, in choreographic education the physical touch might signify what the student needs to adjust or what the student is doing well, possibly depending on the weight or accent of the touch. As much as contemporary choreographic processes might involve physical explorations to discover new movement material, the development of a choreography may not always develop from that. In the auto narrative I share below, I reflect on a contemporary dance practice that I was previously in, where the process of generating movement material was different to how I am used to working:

I have also been in a process where I simply received all the movements, and I feel like that is unusual in creative processes. This process was a bit different to how the three of us work. We create everything together and reflect as a group, and we do creative tasks. Such as, what do you need from me here, and what if we do or think like this? I think that we also communicate physically in a lift, in which we must consider what works and not, and adapt to the other person's body. Without saying anything, you just do it. But when you just receive movements like I did in this process it becomes a completely different way of working together. It is more like copying.

Copying of movements may often be seen in choreographic education, however copying can also be explored in professional choreographic processes where the dancers are, for instance, teaching each other new movement material. Copying movements might contribute to a more efficient process in which movements are simply being taught. Dimitrakopoulou (2022) claims that copying is noticeable in the arts, where it in dance is seen as a way of copying the "demonstrative body" to produce highly skilled dancers. This might indicate the importance of copying in choreographic education, in which dance students are still learning techniques and might need to use their glance to understand it in their own bodies. However, the practice of copying may decrease the feeling of autonomy and the opportunity to experience exploration of movements. Besides, the movements might appear differently in everyone's bodies and therefore provide a reduced sense of achievement. However, like Dimitrakopoulou, Raman (2009) essentially argues that demonstration and copying is a frequently applied method in teaching dance technique. Further, Raman (2009) suggests that demonstration and copying is found to be successful and efficient in novice dancers in which it offers a lot of information about a movement. It also generates an intellectual understanding of the movement that can be explored when the dancer is self-regulating the achievement of that skill (Raman, 2019). Similarly, Berg (2021) mentions that the utilization of demonstration can be a way of emphasizing musicality and quality of the movement material. Dancers might need to pay attention to different features and details of the movements to be able to understand them and interpret them in their own bodies. My auto narrative below gives an example of how to demonstrate and copy movements in choreographic processes.

I can show on my own knees and indicate the turned-out movement. Last time I was teaching, I did a warm-up where I did different movements across the floor, and they had to follow. They just had to pick it up. I demonstrated, they acted.

Comparably to me, Leah shared one of her experiences from the dance studio where she was demonstrating a handstand to the students in two different ways so that they could observe and understand how to accomplish the movement in an efficient way.

I can occasionally, when we move across the floor, stop the music, and demonstrate what they do and what I want them to do. So, they can see the difference. For instance, a handstand across the floor. How they are not supposed to lead the arms from over the head to the floor, but that they are supposed to come from below and along the floor. I stop the music to demonstrate and then they are like, "I get it".

The practice of demonstrating the handstand might be a way of forcing the students to reflect on their own embodied knowledge. Both my own and Leah's example of how to explore demonstration and copying, might indicate how copying can offer exploration and individuality. Through demonstration without simultaneously using verbal communication, the dancers might find their own ways of doing the movements. However, this way of exploring demonstration and copying in choreographic processes might still lack the physical explorations of formations, timing, lifts, and other interactional work, and perhaps focus more on doing identical movements. This section has explored the use of senses as communication in choreographic processes. The next section will discuss tactile communication as a way of interacting in contemporary choreographic processes. This section particularly investigates how sensing with the skin can be used to communicate information that can contribute to understanding and recognition in collaborative work with physical contact.

4.2.2 Tactile communication

The use of tactile communication can potentially provide dancers with a different kind of understanding of the movement material. It is interesting how a dancer can push another dancer's hip or pull someone's arm and receive a bodily reaction from that. The dancer might also communicate back by responding to that push, and the dancers are subsequently in constant communication. Berg's (2021) communication theory about kinesthetic dialogue highlights the unique opportunity to dialogue through movement, fostering an interesting perspective on tactile communication. Tactile communication can be useful in dance education to make the students, for example, understand where to place the head, but it can also be applicable in many ways in choreographic processes, like exemplified above. In contemporary choreographic processes, tactile communication can be used to collectively figure out how to do movements and to explore tasks where physical contact is a suitable tool. This ability to collaborate can contribute to a unique presence and consideration of how to move and interact with others. Giguere (2019) argues that working tactilely with colleagues can strengthen the connection between the dancers. Tactile communication can make individuals familiar with each other and perhaps contribute to building trust in the choreographic process.

There are several ways of exploring tactile communication both in professional choreographic processes and in choreographic education. Tactile feedback for dance students will help dance pedagogues transfer and receive useful information, to make students conscious of their alignment and to support students when learning something new (Giguere, 2019). Even though professional dancers are not mainly supposed to learn elements like these from each other, tactile communication can provide a deeper understanding of physical contact in relation new movement materials and collaborative work. Based on direct observations and interviews in a project regarding embodied knowledge through silent dance pedagogy, Berg (2021) states that the teacher's use of tactile correction originate from the teachers own dance training. So, how a dancer or dance pedagogue explores tactile communication can be influenced by their experiences as former dance students. From experiencing and learning that tactile adjustments are common in choreographic education, a dance pedagogue might pass this on to both teaching and professional choreographic processes. Keevallik (2021) states that teachers describe, simplify and correct movements, however temporalities and power of the muscles can not only be described in words. Feedback through bodily corrections might include communication in dance in the same sense as speaking, although perhaps in a more artistic way. Below, I have shared how physical touch in choreographic education, from my experience, contribute to the students understanding of how to do a movement with the accurate intention and sensation:

Students can do the movement, but then it doesn't work for them, simply because they don't understand what I am trying to accomplish with the movement. So sometimes I can do it with one of them just so that they can physically sense how the movement is supposed to feel. Or I can lift or push, or whatever it is. For instance, if they do a leg swing exercise, I can give their knees a little push so that they get a feeling of collapse. I can also talk to them while I do it, however the intention is the sensation of the movement.

Giving the students the opportunity to physically experience a movement with a touch, such as an impulse or an elongation, might provide an increased understanding of how the movement should feel and consequently how the movement should be accomplished. Tactile communication in education might also be seen as a simple touch of, for example the back, to emphasize where a movement is coming from. Rustad (2020) suggests that sensation is close to communication, however sensation in bodily connections is based on kinesthetic perception and has therefore a changed kind of approach compared to verbal dialogues. So, by exploring tactile communication through offering the dance students or dance colleagues a sensation to work with, such as the push I mentioned in my auto narrative above, the movements might be interpreted and understood in a different way. However, Berg (2021) has found that several students experienced being forced into positions through these tactile corrections, and that the teacher expected the students to have the ideal physicality. Nevertheless, Berg 's article refers to ballet pedagogy and the use of tactile communication in contemporary choreographic education and creative work might be experienced differently.

I must admit that I have experienced being forced into positions in contemporary dance technique class as well. Though that may not contemplate with a choreographic process where there might be an emphasis on the more exploratory aspects of dance, such as through collaboration and interpretation of ideas. Berg (2021) also states that some

students found tactile corrections effective in which the teacher assisted their understanding of how to do the movements, and that some students found physical adjustments less applicable as they struggled to comprehend and interpret the movements by themselves. The dance pedagogue should not touch students if they do not want to and for several reasons rather not force the students into positions. Giguere (2019) claims that forceful tactile feedback can give an idea that the pedagogue oversees the student's bodily actions, and it will decrease the students feeling of independence. The dance pedagogue might need to explore what is functional for each student and discover ways to approach them with tactile feedback, in which tactile communication might sometimes be essential to explain and illustrate movements. However, this exploration must be carefully considered so that no harm is done. It is essential to be aware of the use of tactile communication, both in professional choreographic processes and in choreographic education, in which it should be an approving and constructive experience rather than providing a feeling of worry and stress. In addition, regardless of age and experience, dancers should be offered a feeling of autonomy and acceptance, and an opportunity to have an opinion and say no on behalf of themselves. Without this, the choreographic process may be rigid, damaging and have reduced efficiency.

As a professional dancer operating close with other performers, and especially as a dance pedagogue, I find it relevant to discuss the use of tactile communication in dance. I find it essential to ask students if it is fine that I physically touch them to help them understand, and my experience is that this often is accepted by the student. Nevertheless, people are different and tactile communication might potentially be problematic for someone. A gentle touch can even be triggering for some students if they previously have experienced trauma, and a dance pedagogue should therefore always ask themselves "why am I touching?" (Giguere, 2019). Being attentive towards why a touch is utilized might prevent unnecessary tactile communication and hence contribute to trust and confidence in the dance class. If tactile feedback occurs under considerate and skilled conditions, it can contribute to reduced anxiety and strengthened empathy (Giguere, 2019). This might mean that tactile communication can be beneficial for dancers if it is explored with sensitivity and done because it truly will supply the choreographic process with valuable information. Vionnet (2021) mentions that hair, hands, and neck often are considered more private areas of the body than the back, shoulders, and legs. However, Vionnet (2021) adds that dancing with someone on a regular basis where a trustful correlation is established, she tolerates more tactile communication as she distinguishes the authentic intentions for every bodily touch.

A trustful relationship can be crucial both as a professional dancer and as a dance pedagogue in which it can provide a calmer atmosphere where everyone is conscious of every individual's limitation and aims. In choreographic processes dancers might operate close to each other, and several intimate movements might be investigated for the choreography. Not everyone might be comfortable with this, and it can be essential to always ask for consent to make sure that no one is experiencing stress. Feeling stressed and being uncomfortable in the choreographic process because of tactile communication can potentially provide a tension in the body and perhaps a reduced feeling of creativity. Dancers should appreciate and respect other dancers' expectations and understandings of physical contact in contemporary dance. By doing so, the choreographic process might be experienced as more effective and nourishing for every individual. Leah refers to her experience of the instinctive aspect of tactile communication as a collaborator. She also

reflects on how she can contribute to the most managing and best achievable experience for everyone:

Yes, and I think you as a dancer experience that early when working with physical contact. Like last time, when I did that lift with Lisa when we were filming the piece. I could feel that, no, she is not in the accurate place. So, I decided to not let go of her hand when I was supposed to. Even though I probably could have let her go and it could have worked out fine, I just felt like there was something a little off. And I experience that I notice this more and more, as the more we have worked together, I can sort of feel what the group needs. Does the group need stillness or energy? What do we need so that we can land what we are doing together.

Leah's reflection regarding not being in the right place in a lift, may resonate with Vionnet's (2021) statement about how contact improvisation is based on non-verbal communication where dancers sensitive and attentive sides are the only channels of communication. Leah chose to stay in the lift, possibly to get into the correct position, which was communicated to Lisa only through physical touch. Perhaps Lisa was listening with embodied knowledge and noticed an extension in her arm from being held or from precipitously being in a stable position. This exclusive way of communication relates to Berg's (2021) understanding of kinesthetic dialogue and how to give and receive response without using words to do so. Tactile communication can accordingly facilitate different and original ways of understanding new embodied information. A dancer adapts to a partner's shape, and this experience provides information regarding grounding, support, individuality, and intention (Vionnet, 2021). Tactile communication can provide information about other's invitations and intentions with the movements. Dancers might regulate and change their movement shapes to be able to physically collaborate with other dancers. Rustad (2020), similarly to Vionnet (2021), mentions that the dancers interactionally reply to the alterations appearing in the other's body and adds that this shared understanding often transpires simultaneously as the changes evolves. So, dancers must always be attentive and prepared to acclimatize their movements in correlation with others, in which the movements change and develop in that moment. Being attentive to the other dancer's shapes and structures might thus challenge the dancers' own habits and expected ways of moving, and subsequently mature their movement patterns. My auto narrative below shares my experience of adapting to other dancers' movements. I discuss how I consider and reflect upon going into a physical interaction with another dancer:

I´m trying to approach someone when I feel like it is a good moment to do so, and I feel like I need to hurry before the other person moves on to something else. Or I feel like I am always alert, I am always attentive. Not to get the correct response, but so that whatever I am trying to communicate is noticed somehow. Because if I approach you and you move before I get there, I have tried to accomplish something that didn´t work. I am always asking myself, is this the right time to do it? What does the choreography need? Because that is often what we do in different exercises.

My auto narrative may indicate how timing and response is meaningful when it comes to physically engaging with other dancers. It can be challenging to understand someone else's actions before they occur. Dancers may gather a lot of useful information by

sensing what is about to happen through tactile communication. The dancers can consequently provide physical impulses to each other. However, the segment before physical contact arises, like I am discussing in my auto narrative, can offer challenges such as solely predicting what is about to happen. In the next section I am therefore curious about the exploration of glance in contemporary dance as an additional characteristic of non-verbal dialogue in choreographic processes.

4.3 Glance as communication

Leveraging off the ideas of what the embodied and tactile communication might offer in contemporary choreographic processes, the use of glance is perhaps also important to consider and emerged as a theme within the process of analysis. Glance may signify a unique attentiveness in which the dancers can remain connected and present as one unity. Drawing upon the "Johari window" (Koca & Erigüç, 2020; Graasvold, 2015) and its perspective on understanding individuals' emotions and needs, it can enable useful knowledge when it comes to interpreting someone else's meaning and communication through glance. Glance might be an approach to listening and being responsive to each other in a choreographic process. Glance directions and eye contact are examples of socially significant information sharing in which it can provide information regarding warnings, combined attention, and the capability to understand and calculate someone's actions (Evola & Skubisz, 2019). Accordingly, glance can be a vital element when it comes to interactional work. Glance might provide information that can be required when communicating without using words. Consequently, the use of glance can be significant when learning a new movement phrase, and especially when dancers must spontaneously synchronize their timing and actions whilst moving. Leah revealed one of her experiences from performing on a dance festival with me where we forgot the choreography and had to find solutions together on stage without being able to discuss them verbally:

As a dancer you can sort of not say anything unless it is choreographed. During that dance festival, and the communication that occurred with our eyes has burned into my memory. I understood the moment we came towards each other, and I saw you, that we had messed up. We just had to deal with it.

Leah reflects on how verbal communication might not be used in a choreography unless it is choreographed, and therefore suggests that glance can be a meaningful communication tool. Personally, I remember that the way we looked at each other indicated that we made a mistake in the dance, and I could similarly to Leah realize our mistake by just making eye contact with her. How we utilized our glance as a communicational device was fundamental for how we understood each other. From seeing each other and realizing what was wrong, we collectively explored our glance to communicate and then together found a solution of how to get back to the original choreography. From knowing Leah well, I immediately recognized the choreographic mistake we had just made. This might propose that from having a deep familiarity with one another, it can be easier to understand each other's communication through glance. From the experience of working collaboratively together over time, we might have developed an ability to read and understand each other's glances. Evola and Skubisz (2019) have found that professional performers intend to transpire into "performance mode" when doing an improvisation task in which they have embodied social cognitive

skills to communicate in silence. Dancers might have social cognitive skills that contribute to the understanding of what is happening in a space without using verbal communication. This might indicate that by being experienced in choreography as a non-verbal practice, Leah and I managed to find our way through the choreography together, using glance in this case.

Evola and Skubisz (2019) state that movements of the eyes or around the eyes can communicate information to another individual, both intentionally and inferentially. It can be challenging to describe what contributes to a dancer's understanding of glance. However, a glance may be an indicator of the embodied skills that have developed over years of dance training and experience, as seen from the examples above. Leah shares a narrative from another performance she was a part of, where she explored glance several times during the choreography to communicate with the other dancers:

I can link it to a performance I was just in because there was a lot of communication on stage that was non-verbal because we included performers that had never been on a stage before. I communicated a lot with eye contact, like across the stage, such as "are you ready?". And I did this so many times that it became a que because when I look at you and I get up, you are joining me. When I do not look at you anymore, you are not walking with me. But it was like a score, so even if you had tasks to do in the choreography you could improvise a lot within those frames. We could, for example, look at each other to indicate what was coming.

Leah 's narrative might amplify how contemporary dance consists of several communication forms that might essentially offer another layer to the movements and the dancers' interactions. Leah 's example might additionally signify how the use of glance can be more than just a choreographic expression or a way of understanding each other's messages. It makes me reflect on how one dancer's choices might affect the others involved. This can relate to Rustad 's (2020) argument that dancers in physical contact may experience making decisions together, as they are being attentive and responsive to each other's choices and actions. Even though Rustad refers to tactile communication, the use of glance might similarly be an approach towards making collective decisions in choreography. For instance, the way I apply glance and choose to move with my dance partner will most likely affect how that person responds, which will hence influence my next action.

Dancers may need to be cautious about how they choose to communicate with their glance to make sure they communicate clear and meaningful messages. Evola and Skubisz (2019) argues that professional dancers prevent unnecessary movements in a collaborative setting to avoid distracting the other dancers, which can contribute to a less noisy body. It might be important to avoid needless movements and expressions in nonverbal communication to connect with the other dancers in a neat way. In this way the choreographic process might be experienced as more established. Skilled decision-making is mentioned by Evola and Skubisz (2019) as an essential aspect of silent communication in improvised dance as dancers can understand how their own actions will affect the development of others' movements and the entire performance. Being able to convey useful information through glance might not only be essential for the dancer receiving the information, however it can also be vital for the choreography's outcome. Glance may therefore acquire consideration in which it may be more significant for the

choreographic process than many dancers realize. The following section will explore how supportive communication can be experiences in choreographic processes and offers examples of how this can be facilitated.

4.4 Supportive communication

I asked the two participants about previous experiences of choreographic processes and if they felt that some of the communication practices was more encouraging and supportive than others. For Leah it seemed that it was fundamental to experience communication as honest and well-defined when it comes to feelings. Leah proceeded to mention a situation in a previous choreographic process where honesty was fundamental for the collaborative process:

I am thinking about that process we had with Caroline, with that lifting phrase across the diagonal. I think someone at one point said that we must move on a little bit. We cannot work with this now because I feel that I can't do it. It is too much criticism, it hurts. I can't do this anymore. If we continue, there will be injuries. And I think that is super important, to say something when that's how you feel.

Leah's suggestion about being truthful about how dancers experience a situation may contribute to clearer communication amongst the dancers, and therefore provide an efficient choreographic process. This could be understood in relation to Graasvold's (2015) understanding of the "Johari window", concerning interpersonal communication. Graasvold (2015) suggests that loyalty and genuineness is fundamental for functional communication in collaboration settings. As the "Johari window" is enlightening an individual's reactions and necessities in a way that it can help dancers understand themselves in relation to other people (Koca & Erigüç, 2020), maintaining an authentic process might contribute to individual growth. Buber (1947) suggests the term 'genuine dialogue' that refers to interpersonal experiences that are recognized by collective openness. Buber (1947) further argues that genuine dialogue is a way of having others in mind, as well as aiming to establish a living mutual connection to them. Buber's understanding of genuine dialogue could support the idea that being honest towards each other in a choreographic process can provide a more supportive and understanding experience. Genuine dialogue may add an additional layer of openness and tolerance, and therefore perhaps a more workable choreographic process. Being authentic requires vulnerability in which the participants present their "real self" and they must be open to change (O'Neal & Hastings, 2019). The ability to authentically communicate may be vital to meaningfully connect with others, and thus to accept alterations and opinions from others.

Leah furthermore states that she thinks it is easy to feel discomfort in choreographic processes but that dancers might want to "please others". Consequently, dancers might continue to do movements that do not feel sufficient to their bodies. When it may feel like the development of the process stops, it might be more efficient to retreat from the problematic sections for a while to provide new motivation and energy. Besides, if a dancer gets hurt there will most likely be a pause in the creative process, even if it is only for a few minutes. Recognizing and accepting everyone's needs resonate with Buber (1947), who states that the most important action in dialogical meetings is to be attentive and responsive towards the other participants This might indicate that a dancer

in a professional choreographic process must acknowledge everyone's needs and listen carefully to their own feelings towards doing the more challenging parts of the choreography.

The pedagogical aspect of contemporary dance may be seen as communication of knowledge and skills. In my opinion, sharing ideas and movements in a professional contemporary dance process is relatable to the way people communicate ideas and movements in choreographic education. Effective communication depends on the mutual knowledge among the dancers and the audience (Hanna, 2008). Dancers in a professional choreographic process may share knowledge regarding the creative idea, and even on how to do a jump or a lift. Sharing different movement materials can be a way of conveying knowledge and inspiration. Barr (2004) however argues that shared knowledge is not necessary to establish worthy communication methods. Shared knowledge in a creative process may though contribute to a more stable and continuous process in which every dancer constantly revises their understanding of the practice, and their communication might therefore be more efficient. There are clearly some disagreements in the literature about the efficiency of mutual knowledge in teamwork settings in diverse fields, though I would think that the dancers shared knowledge can be fundamental for a coordinated and well-established process. Mutual knowledge may help the dancers to better understand what is being discussed and can possibly contribute to explore the different dance sections of the choreography at a deeper level. A professional dance process and choreographic education may include a lot of the similar communication methods as sharing knowledge can be equally significant in both, and I therefore want to look further into how supportive communication can be experienced in choreographic pedagogy.

4.4.1 Supportive communication in choreographic education

This section explores what is experienced as supportive communication in contemporary choreographic education by the participants and in my own experiences. Referring to Buber's (1947) understanding of genuine dialogue from the above section, it might likewise indicate that a dance pedagogue should also reflect on how to attain a realistic and efficient teaching practice by seeing the students' necessities for pauses, such as water breaks or to just allow them to breathe. Seen in relation to Buber's statement, being attentive towards the dance students' needs can be essential to maintain supportive communication in which the teacher have acknowledged the students. Without an engaged dance teacher, communication might not remain resourceful or enlightening. However, what is a 'determined' dance teacher and how can this be seen in choreographic education? Lisa gives an example of how she understands supportive communication in choreographic education. "In dance education it is more like, this is what you are doing, off you go. Rather than, can you try to do this? In dance education you are prepared in a different way than in a professional process".

Lisa's example may suggest that a dance teacher need to be systematized and clear in a different way so that the students can receive relevant and required information rather than spending a lot of time asking questions. Even though asking questions may be a useful experience for dance students, there can often be many students involved in dance education, which hence can influence how the pedagogue will communicate to attain efficiency in the class. However, Lisa's experience with teaching dance might reduce the students feeling of autonomy and the opportunity to explore movements on their own. It might offer an efficient dance class in which she can tell the students what

to do at what time, but it might also be problematic in the sense that the teacher might express and experience a feeling of overseeing the students learning. Lisa's understanding makes me question how a dance pedagogue can be structured and efficient yet offer the students an opportunity to explore and discover how to do movements and technique. In my auto narrative below, I took Lisa's comments as a prompt and reflected on how I work in choreographic education associated to my work as a dance artist alongside other professional dancers:

With you (Lisa and Leah) I reflect a lot more. A lot deeper, on a different level than with my students, which makes sense because of the different aims. With my students it is more like, this is what you do. And I talk more about technical elements in dance. With my students it is like, you stand here, and you do this. It is a completely different way of being clear and my language therefore changes a bit.

Lisa's experience and my auto narrative might suggest that effective communication can be experienced differently in pedagogical settings and in professional processes, and that teaching in choreographic education might simply require a changed level of reflection and attention. Our suggestions might also indicate that this way of working might be efficient for the pedagogue, however less supportive for the students learning. The process of providing supportive communication within both choreographic education and professional choreographic processes might hence not be different, but rather involve different ways of manifesting movements and knowledge.

In choreographic education the students are there to learn dance and the pedagogue might then need to have an intentional and organized plan for the class. This groundwork may contribute to a more resolute way of communicating as the teacher might make decisions without having two or more colleagues to contemplate them with, which dancers in choreographic processes often have. Teaching may require a richer and precise language. A dance teacher might therefore need to be structured and clear, and able to communicate creative ideas and movements successfully by being prepared, comparable to what Lisa indicated. According to Sööt and Viskus (2014) dance teachers tend to mirror what their former dance teachers did. This might suggest that the dancers' experiences from their previous dance training can affect how they teach. It may also indicate that the way a dance teacher communicates with the students may not only affect their learning in that movement, but also how they might end up communicating dance to others in the future. This might also resonate with Lisa's experience with choreographic work in education, as mentioned above, in which she teaches the students what to do rather than exploring movements with them. The students might have diverse desires and requirements, and different approaches to teaching dance might consequently be needed. Besides, telling the student what to do might be how Lisa herself was taught in her dance training. Therefore, she might have continued to work like this with her own students, and they might later do the same. I further asked Lisa how she would have explained a movement phrase to me as I was interested in her practice of "this is what you are doing". Lisa then responded by adding some additional layers to her previous explanation.

I would have gone through the whole thing from beginning to end. By demonstrating the movements and by talking at the same time. Explained what I

am doing and what I think about in each movement. And use some pictures, like metaphors.

Lisa might want to provide her learners with some more information than just the actual movements. Maybe this can be understood as a more supportive way of teaching and learning, in which the dancers can understand the movements in a more advanced way. According to Alaoui et al. (2015) dancers often explore metaphors as a way of explaining movement qualities and dynamics in which, for example, the metaphor of "expanding" suggests an extension of a movement. I can explain movements by saying, for example, "imagine someone is pulling your arm" or "it is like your whole body is filled with water", and by doing so I can see a change in my students' exploration of the movements. By providing dancers with images for their actions, the movements might already be clearer for the dancers, and perhaps easier to physically connect with. This can mean that by contributing to an improved understanding of the movements to begin with, the process of learning choreography can be more efficient. Furthermore, Leah refers to one of her ways of explaining movements in choreographic education and argues that she finds this method useful towards creating a collective understanding of the movements.

I think I have become very aware of; I mean, I have a language to my movements that I bring into both teaching and creative processes. It is the same movements that pop up and I have different set ways to explain the movements in which I know it works. I have a movement that I call "snake", I have no idea where it comes from, but I say it's a "snake". So now everyone knows what a "snake" is.

By describing a movement with a specific name every time might help the students memorize it, and the pedagogue can possibly spend more time emphasizing other noteworthy features in the choreography. Sööt and Viskus (2014) state that the teacher should provide the students with movements that can originate from their bodies and their individualities, and that the movements should only consist of a beginning, an end, or an impact. In relation to Leah's offering this might indicate that by naming a movement, the students may get the opportunity to explore how to do the movement in their bodies with their personal characteristics rather than just receiving a set movement. After some time, the students might recognize the term and then quicker interpret the movements into their bodies. Stevens and McKechnie (2005) claim that ideas for fresh movement phrases come from objects and visualizations that are seen, heard, imagined, said, or felt. This can mean that by using the word "snake", Leah imagines how a snake would move and the students can interpret the movement with deeper understanding as she has selected the name of an acknowledged animal that people can picture in their minds as a prompt. Leah also mentions that her professional experience contributes to how she explains movement, and that she therefore feels like she has achieved stronger communication skills.

You get a confidence after a while when you have experience. You can make decisions in the moment. If you want to explain a clump or a mass formation, you know what to say to achieve that and to receive what you imagine it to be.

By having experience in dance, the dancer may know what to say to attain a preferred action. I can sometimes find it challenging to describe what I imagine the choreography to look like in my head. However, Leah's suggestion about how confidence might

develop from experience may signify that it takes time to develop strong communication where the pedagogue might need to discover what works in that class. This likewise relates to my own perspective of how my professional experience have contributed to how to articulate myself and communicate movements in choreographic education.

I think my ability to reflect upon what I am doing and putting ideas into words has improved. So, just when they ask what the thought behind the choreography is, or why we do the things we do I can answer clearer. To put my thoughts into words is something I have gotten from our contemporary choreographic processes. Because we do a lot of verbal work, not necessarily when we dance but we spend a lot of time discussing and reflecting upon the intention of the dance.

By having experience from being a professional dancer and a dance pedagogue, it might be experienced as easier and more efficient to explain movements and creative ideas. So, from being experienced the dancer might discover specific words that work in the explanations of different movements. Stevens and McKechnie (2005) argue that doing dance involves labeling of movement phrases in rehearsals. This might support the experience Leah and I share about feeling more able to reflect on what we are doing and that we feel it is in turn easier to describe our creative ideas in choreographic education. I have now looked at how supportive communication can be experienced in choreographic education, and I am now curious about how the dancers' relationships can influence the choreographic process.

4.4.2 "Just say it, it's not a big deal" – The impact of dancers relationships

Within the exploration of communication in choreographic processes it has emerged that relationships are significant. The following section will hence explore relationships from the participants' view and my own experiences with it. I am particularly curious about the participants' and my own perspectives of working with friends who are also colleagues. It can be difficult to distinguish the role as a friend and the role as a colleague (Fasbender et al., 2023). As the participants are three friends working together in choreographic processes with no leader, I find it relevant to explore this context, and how this might affect the choreographic process. Pettinger (2005) states that work is vital when it comes to the establishment of some relationships and that friendships within business are fundamental when it comes to outlining work. Pettinger (2005) continues by mentioning that friendships at work can be vital for significant social maintenance and social identity. Although Pettinger is not specifically talking about dancers, I find her suggestions applicable to a dance context. Engaging socially at work can clearly be an encouraging and positive experience for non-dancers and may also be meaningful for dancers in which we use tactile communication and generally operate very close in the dance studio. However, there are some contrasting attitudes towards friendships at work. Pahl (2000, cited in Pettinger, 2005) mentions that friendships at work are simply for convenience and that most friendships end if one of the parties leaves the job. In the context that this research is situated within the participants were friends before becoming colleagues. Besides, because choreographic processes often include tactile communication, as previously mentioned, dancers may achieve close relationships. The more intimate actions of tactile communication might force dancers to get to know each other at a different level. This might resonate with what Vionnet (2021) mentioned about how dancing with someone on a regular basis can establish trust. This can indicate that the relationships between the dancers are essential in initiating a genuine communication practice, and valuable relationships between the participants.

Colleagues who are also friends might discuss creative ideas in unique ways in which the process can involve a more open and authentic communication built on the trust between the participants. For example, if the creative idea is relating to mental health issues, the dancers might be able to have a more honest conversation with friends because they trust each other. In addition, friends might dare to challenge each other more because they know each other's boundaries. Leah debates about how she feels there might be a different approach and tone to the conversations in the choreographic process pendent on the discussion's content. Leah offers the following suggestion.

Try to separate the subject from the person. And be clear about what you want to say. Instead of asking your partner if they can push more. What does that really mean? Are you asking if I can use my arms more to lift myself up so that I can push your hip? If that's what you are trying to say, say it clearly. Or this lift is not working for me. I don't know what is not working, but we need to look at it. And don't be afraid to throw away things that doesn't really work.

Leah 's understanding of working with friends can imply that it sometimes can be difficult to be straightforward with each other as friends may be more worried to insult the others. However, Feldman (1999) claims that conversations can bring people closer to each other, as they require the participants to share personal insights, intelligences, desires, and moral attitudes. Feldman 's statement might designate that by tolerating conversations about the dancer 's necessities or their disagreements, the creative process might essentially achieve increased consideration and attentiveness towards each participant. However, Leah proposes the idea of separating the subject from the person. Is it possible to separate the subject from the person? Considering that the participants are all friends, and have known each other for an extended period, it could be difficult to separate personal perspectives and emotions from work. In collaborative choreographic processes, everyone's individual needs are equally important which might make it problematic to prioritize the subject rather than the people involved. Nevertheless, an awareness towards attempting to separate the subject from the person might contribute to a direct and open communication practice.

Leah additionally mentions that from being colleagues over a long period, she now feels like she can tell Lisa and me when something is wrong. She says that she does not need to "wrap it in" and that the dancers should "practice not being offended by things". Leah continues by stating that she prefers to tell the other dancers what count a movement is on, rather than asking the others what count it is on, as it is more efficient to "just say it, it's not a big deal". So, by being direct Leah thinks that the choreographic process can be more operative and might raise the level of the choreographic process, and subsequently the choreographic result. Lam et al. (2019) refers to employees and managers, but resonates with Leah's experience, and mentions that if the employee is expressing an idea with a direct tone, the information is shared adequately and clearly.

Similarly, to knowing dance colleagues well as mentioned above, knowing the dance students well might contribute to more efficient and supportive dance classes, in which the pedagogue can be able to distinguish what the students are able to accomplish simply by being experienced with the group and trusting the students' skills. Galeet (2012) claims that supportive communication in ballet pedagogy is important to contribute to improved self-awareness and trust in the students' own abilities, and by

acknowledging students, this can be achievable. Although Galeet's views concern ballet pedagogy, the pedagogical aspect of supportive communication can be considered just as important in contemporary dance. Hence, if the dance pedagogue knows the students well it might be easier to help the students develop improved self-awareness. Galeet (2012) argues that the use of language, verbal tones and body language will affect the outcome of the student's confidence and self-esteem. This can indicate that by applying the correct words and other communication forms in pedagogical settings, the pedagogue might get to know the students better, in which they can get an increased trust in the teacher. And from trusting the teacher's comments, the students' confidence and self-esteem may mature. Leah is considering how being a professional dancer can be beneficial for both herself and her students as she knows what a dance career demands. Leah is particularly emphasizing that the dance pedagogue cannot always "hold the student's hand". Leah reflects on how knowing students well can establish a more direct, experimental, and honest communication:

I notice with the oldest students, that by knowing them better I am much more explorative in my classes. That I am more direct and exploratory in my communication to them because we are done with me just teaching them movements. Even though there are still some students I need to do that with, simply because I don't feel like we know each other well enough yet. With some students I can tell them if something is wrong just like that because I know they can do it correctly.

Leah 's idea of choreographic work in education could propose that her style of teaching changes as her relationship to the students is enhanced. However, it may be challenging to differentiate her position as a dance pedagogue and the role as a collaborator when working choreographically together with them. Leah 's understanding might additionally suggest that direct communication is not only about telling the student what is right and what is wrong, however it might also be a way of being clear of what is expected of them as dancers which might develop their teacher-student relationship. O 'Connor (2008) argues that there cannot be a professional growth without a personal development. This may indicate that by developing a well-established relationship to the dance students, the pedagogues teaching practice and therefore communication skills will develop.

Coleman (2018) explains the challenges of establishing leadership in cooperative processes and how the participant's expectations of doing a practice can provide different disagreements. This leads me to wonder how the dancers' relationships might shape a collective choreographic process. Knowing the dancers that I work with contributes to a more relaxed atmosphere in which I experience being calm and self-confident in the choreographic process. I experience that my relationship with my colleagues can affect how I communicate with them. I have experienced being stricter with people I do not know in which I am not afraid to insult them in the same way I am with my friends, however I have also been more careful in how I communicate with others simply because I did not know them and their boundaries. This might suggest that the relationship between the dancers might affect how they articulate themselves and how they manage to communicate with each other, both verbally and physically.

The two participants and myself claim that a leader has not been needed when the three of us work together in choreographic processes, although it is stated by Leah and me that it can be demanding to "separate social activities from work". Pillemer and Rothbard

(2018) claims that having friendships at work will include challenges such as distraction from work related tasks. I recognize that we rapidly can end up talking about yesterday's happenings during a rehearsal, plus discussing choreographic elements at a social gathering, such as in a café. According to Pillemer and Rothbard (2018) challenges as mentioned above can encompass as friends prioritize to preserve a friendship and therefore tend to discuss personal topics that involves giving advice and support at work if needed. This might signify that friends will more often discuss personal inquires at work if necessary to maintain a friendship. Pillemer and Rothbard's claim may also indicate that the transition from personal talk to work discussions can be challenging for friends, in which they must guarantee an appropriate conclusion to their talks. It can though be a suggestion to consider how to devote time conveniently to advantage from the process, both as coworkers and friends.

Leah mentions that if something "feels strange" before a performance, it is needed to talk about it before going on stage. She claims that it "affects how we perform" in which we are "not managing to do everything full out as a group". Continuous communication might be significant to avoid pointless disagreements and tension in the group. There are hence some advantageous of working with friends. Zajac and Hartup (1997) mentions that working with friends supports intellectual functioning. Though Zajac and Hartup's study primary examines children working with friends, the study is relevant as it enlightens benefits of working alongside people we know well. Zajaz and Hartup (1997) have, for instance, discovered that friends explored broader, were more task orientated and was more involved in orientated discussions. There might be a difference of children's and adults' behaviors when it comes to working with friends and non-friends. However, Zajac and Hartups findings might mean that working with friends contributes to more engaged, efficient and motivated work. After exploring the dancers' relationships in collaborative work, the next section will discuss the impact of choreographic processes with not only one choreographer leading the process. This is relevant within the context of me and the two other participants' choreographic work.

4.4.3 Communication between multiple choreographers

Having one choreographer or one person leading the process might be useful as it may allow for a clear leadership hierarchy, and for decisions to be ultimately made by one person. Barsky (2021) argues that the dance maker has the position of authority and that the dancers does the movements the choreographer requests them to do in which there is a respect towards the dance creator. A choreographer can be seen as an observer who apply the movements produced by the dancers, such as considering if the dancer should remain doing that movement or not (Fonseca et al., 2021). The choreographer may make significant decisions and at the same time allow the dancers to explore bodily movements that might later be organized into more arranged phrases by the choreographer. However, by not having one choreographer, but rather a collective choreographic process, the dancers might work in a different way in which their ability to reflect on what is happening may be explored in a new way, such as also considering artistic elements including intention and purposes. A choreographer can also allow the dancers to explore choreographic elements like these. However, in a choreographic process with no leader the dancers are not dependent on the choreographer's decisions on when they might be allowed to explore like this.

Leah mentions that she finds it "easier to work with one choreographer" as the choreographer has some kind of "veto power". She also suggests that the dancers can

then explore more practical aspects, such as finding solutions to do a lift correctly. Another way of working with a choreographer is how the dancers collaboratively understand a creative task, rather than making the artistic choices regarding "why" we do what we do. Leah's experience might mean that by having one choreographer the dancers can focus on how to do the movements rather than considering the deeper layers of why these movements are included. Having one choreographer does not necessarily mean that the dancers should not reflect on what they are doing, however it might just be a different kind of approach towards emphasizing what the bodies are doing. In these situations, the choreographer might make the final decision of what and why. Dancers face numerous of decision-making situations while creating artwork (Fonseca et al., 2021), and sometimes it might be difficult to make decisions, and especially if every dancer's opinion must be considered. Leah further says that with our collaborative choreographic processes, it is "not decided who should make the final decisions". The unique opportunity to engage several dancers' viewpoints can provide the process with innovative concepts. Lisa offers the following perspective.

For example, when you go into a project where there is someone else leading it, like a choreographer, there must be a communication that goes both ways. That everyone shares individual experiences regarding the topic, or personal thoughts, and you will then get ownership to what you are doing. So, I feel like communication is important for everyone to have ownership over both the process and the choreographic outcome. And I think it is important to clarify the roles of everyone. Like, we have all three been choreographers and dancers, and we have discussed that and what that implies.

Lisa's experience might mean that the dancers' opinions should be respected in choreographic processes with one leader, and that this can lead to a feeling of contribution. Lisa also mentions that we have agreed on the roles of being both choreographers and dancers, and this might moreover show that talking about this in advance can be central to attain an effective and advantageous process. Collaboration is a part of dance and dancers contribute to the choreographic processes with their understanding and expertise (Davies & Leach, 2022). By allowing the dancers to create dance collectively might offer an outcome with a distinctive expression than if it was only the choreographer creating the movement material. Different individuals' ideas and movement patterns might together open for ideas that was not explored before. A collaboration project may contribute to an improved feeling of ownership to the work in which every dancer's individual ways of moving are implemented and everyone's knowledge appear to be valued. This resonates with the Deci and Ryan's (1985) autonomy orientation as mentioned previously in this chapter where the dancers feeling of value from getting to opportunity to make decisions was mentioned. The dancers may consequently develop increased motivation and perhaps advanced bodily physique by the opportunity to challenge what their bodies can do.

Davies and Leach (2022) mention a curiosity about eliminating continuous leadership, and instead benefit from every dancer's competence. If the dancers get to experience a feeling of value and independence, the group may benefit from everyone's knowledge and creative minds. So, by not having one choreographer leading the process the dancers may get this opportunity regularly. Davies and Leach (2022) continue with a reflection from their interviews with choreographer Siobhan Davies, where they explain that if somebody is lacking energy or their knowledge is not present in a collaboration

project, another dancer can take the lead for a moment to bring their ideas to the choreography. I understand this as an exceptional way of communicating in a contemporary choreographic process in which the dancers can bring their ideas to the space when it is required, and it might then be desired to realize what the choreography needs and what each dancer can contribute with. Understanding social psychology (Craig, 1999) might contribute to improved recognition of every dancer's individual contribution. It can provide knowledge about how to efficiently interact and understand other people in the collaborative process. Subsequently, without necessarily needing to speak, the dancers might communicate through an understanding of when their and others support is required. I think this is an essential ability to learn already in choreographic education. This can provide an understanding of that everyone's knowledge is required and appreciated in a collaborative process. Therefore, the next section will discuss the significance of communication in choreographic education. The section will offer an investigation of how considerations of communication in choreographic education might be needed to develop future dancers and reflective humans for society.

4.5 Put your ego away – Emerging communication skills

Communication in contemporary choreographic processes can appear in numerous of ways. I have previously reflected upon supportive communication in choreographic education to delve into dance pedagogue's ways of exploring helpful and encouraging communication. However, this section explores the role of communication in choreographic education and why an attention towards communication might be beneficial for dance students in Norway today. I am curious about how dance pedagogues are implementing communication as an aspect of choreography in their classes. Attention towards communication in choreographic education might perhaps provide the students with an improved understanding of the central communication theories for this study: social psychology (Craig, 1999), kinesthetic dialogue (Berg, 2021) and the "Johari window" (Koca & Erigüç, 2020; Graasvold, 2015). An understanding of these communication theories can significantly develop dance students' choreographic processes and their ability to collaborate and communicate with others.

Østern and Dahl (2019), as stated in the literature review, mentions that connections, emotions and communication between the dance student and the dance pedagogue will emerge from a bodily education style and that it will improve the students learning. Even though Østern and Dahl emphasize the teacher-student relation, it might relate to the learning benefits of communication between students as well. By looking at Berg´s (2021) exploration of kinesthetic dialogue as a way of understanding non-verbal communication in ballet pedagogy, Østern and Dahl´s suggestion can contribute to an understanding of how communication through bodily actions can provide learning. I can only imagine how many ways this can be explored in dance class, by for instance applying partnering both with and without physical contact and by exploring and creating movement materials as a group. Is a consideration about communication ever discussed or reflected upon as a fundamental and dynamic skill for dancers in choreographic education? I am questioning these significant qualities of choreographic education to discover how an awareness of communication can contribute to improved teamwork and communication skills already at a pre-professional level.

According to Østern and Hovik (2017), as mentioned in the literature review, to create with someone else requires interaction between the participants. Buck-Pavlick (2022), also cited in the literature review, mentions that it is vital to inspire to communication to explore choreographic ideas. Buck-Pavlick's view might indicate that communication is significant and useful in choreographic education, and it leads me to this question: Can communication be explored in choreographic education to provide awareness of its significance in collaborative choreographic processes? Schupp (2015) states that dance students are often asked to work and learn together in which collaboration is vital in several choreographic processes. I therefore aim to comprehend how choreographic education can provide students with supportive and efficient communication skills.

Salmon and Young (2011) claim that "communication skills" are an established module in medical curriculums, because it relates to the care about other people and how important messages are delivered by being carefully considered. Even though this might involve another level of strong communication skills, there might be reason to consider it relevant for choreographic education as well - because choreographic education often is about working with other people. Salmon and Young (2011) argue that communication is holistic. This strengthens the idea that communication skills can be significant in choreographic education, in which dancers are working with individuals that come with different experiences, vulnerabilities, and qualities. Besides, in the framework for the curriculum LK20 for the Norwegian upper secondary education within "Danseteknikker" it is stated that dance as a subject is supposed to give the students the opportunity to express themselves and explore dance through practice, improvisation, interaction, and reflection (The Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training, 2020). It is also argued in the curriculum LK20 that the students will have the opportunity to discover collaborative and reflective aspects of dance (The Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training, 2020). This might provide useful tools not only to create choreography but also to bring attentiveness to the importance of communication and collaboration skills in dance. In my auto narrative below, I have reflected upon how my communication skills developed in choreographic education.

I remember that the teachers in other subjects talked about communication in advance of collaborative works. Even though they did not talk a lot about how to communicate and the benefits of it, I feel like it was still considered as an important aspect of collaboration. In dance, however, I feel like I learnt the importance of communication by attending different choreographic processes. The pedagogues did teach us choreographic tools, such as contact improvisation and the use of negative space, but I cannot remember that communication was discussed as a fundamental feature of choreographic processes. I had to explore this on my own.

My auto narrative might suggest that communication should be discussed in choreographic education and taken into consideration by future dance pedagogues to develop the student's communication skills sooner. Nonetheless, examples of tacit knowledge learnt in collaborative processes in dance education are empathy, leadership, and communication skills (Schupp, 2015). This statement can suggest that communication skills can be developed from simply attending choreographic processes alone. However, it might also strengthen my opinion regarding how an awareness of communication is needed in choreographic education. An incorporation of different

communication approaches might allow the students to explore these skills at a deeper level rather than only discovering them.

Through idea-related communication the student will get access to responses from peers, they can explore their knowledge and expertise, and gain new perceptions (Binnewies et al., 2007). By getting the opportunity to exchange ideas with others, the dance students might discover significant skills that can develop their dance-making abilities. Subsequently, the students might understand and appreciate their own abilities as well as value other perspectives and creative ideas. Communication as a term should accordingly be considered as vital in choreographic education in which it can help students understand the essence of choreographic work. Schupp (2015) claims that dance pedagogues can contribute to improved communication skills by valuing class discussions, providing methods to give choreographic feedback and help them engage in discussions. These methods towards communication can develop the student's verbalization of their own thoughts, help them relate their viewpoints to others' ideas and to listen (Schupp, 2015). Even though these elements might contribute to better verbal communication, it may still indicate the teacher's role when it comes to developing the student's communication skills in choreographic education. Dance pedagogues could, for instance, invite to a seminar about communication in choreographic processes or simply discuss the term's meaning in advance of collaborative choreographic work. This could provide the students with proper insight of how their communication abilities can influence both their own actions and other individuals' perceptions. I have underneath added Leah's thoughts about what communication is, and how it can be beneficial in a choreographic process:

It is about how we respond to each other's suggestions. For me it is a way of expressing my opinions, and a reflection of how I can express that without offending anyone and stay open towards the others' ideas. It is about having respect for others' opinions and beliefs, and to put my ego away. And how to achieve a constructive yet objective dialogue.

Leah mentions several abilities that may contribute to the student's personal growth and their collaboration skills in dance. An awareness of communication as a skill might support the students' understanding of how to treat other people with consideration and likewise how to approach others in an acknowledged and committed way. This is seen in the framework for the curriculum LK20 for the Norwegian upper secondary education in "Danseteknikker" which aims to provide students with physical, communicative, and aesthetical competence which is a resource for the society and for their working lives (The Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training, 2020). This is supported by Schupp (2015) who argues that by teaching dance students' collaborative skills, they will be better equipped for a life outside of school, regardless of their career alternatives. Expression about dance, for instance, might involve articulation of new ideas and discussing elements such as technique, history, anatomy, and creative tasks. This can allow the students to actively reflect and express thoughts about and through dance.

4.6 Summary

From reflecting on contemporary dance as a way of communicating with both words and an embodied approach, this chapter has illustrated that there can be several ways of exploring communication in contemporary choreographic processes. From interviewing

two professional contemporary dancers and exploring my own auto narratives I have an increased understanding of how communication can occur in choreographic processes and choreographic education. Communication methods such as embodied communication through senses, glance and tactile interaction, and different characteristics of verbal communication have been discussed. The use of supportive communication in choreographic processes and choreographic education have also been reflected upon. From these ideas this chapter additionally contributes to a greater awareness of how the use of communication can be of significance in processes of generating movements. Finally, it has unpacked how the dancers' relationships within a group can impact the choreographic process and discovered diverse teaching approaches within choreographic education.

5 Conclusion

This thesis gives insight to different communication methods in contemporary choreographic processes by exploring the main research question: How might three contemporary professional dancers experience communication in choreographic processes? The study has taken a qualitative approach and utilized ethnography and autoethnography as methodologies. The study has gathered material from two semistructured interviews and my own auto narratives. I have explored how the two participants and I experience different communication methods in our contemporary choreographic processes by looking at how we share creative ideas and respond to each other's impulses and suggestions, both verbally and non-verbally. The literature and theory explored in the study have been carefully considered in relation to the research question. The study has discovered central characteristics of communication in choreographic processes; communication as an ongoing practice through revisiting the creative idea verbally and utilizing vocalization to communicate, the embodied feeling of communication such as tactile communication, the use of glance and applying senses as silent communication. Furthermore, I have explored how supportive communication can be experienced in different ways and how supportive communication in choreographic education can be seen and considered. I have additionally looked at how dancers' relationships can influence the choreographic process and how choreographic processes with no leader can be experienced. Lastly, I have explored how an attention towards communication in choreographic education can be valuable for students, dancers, choreographers, pedagogues, and dance schools and institutions, as well as the society. I will now discuss the main findings of the study through the above features of communication in contemporary choreographic processes in Norway.

5.1 Main findings

From this research several crucial findings have emerged. In the paragraphs below the main findings of the study are addressed and unpacked.

Communication as an ongoing practice

Communication as an ongoing practice highlight how communication appears in daily interactions and how it is a key to connect with others (Østern & Hovik, 2017). According to Feldman (1999), conversations contribute to sharing knowledge and understandings, which can indicate the importance of conversation in choreographic processes. Through unpacking the participants and my own experiences, this research shows how the use of voice in different ways can provide clear expressions and understandings of movements and creative ideas. By investigating communication as an ongoing practice in contemporary dance in the light of vocalization, such as sound making, and revisiting the creative idea throughout the choreographic process, the study has investigated the verbal aspect of communication. The following paragraph will unpack the findings of exploring speaking and the use of sound within verbal communication in more depth.

Revisiting the creative idea

Revisiting creative ideas through exploring verbal communication can provide the choreographic process with a clear direction (Feldman, 1999) and an improved indication to what is essentially being physically explored for the choreography. I have discovered that regularly revisiting the creative idea helps the dancers maintain an understanding of the choreography's intention. From this study I have discovered that the creative idea

may not be forgotten, but rather that it can change as the choreography develops. In relation to Deci and Ryan´s (1985) understanding of autonomy, revisiting the creative idea throughout the process can additionally increase the dancers feeling of individuality and independence as their voices and views are valued. Verbal communication can accordingly improve the group dynamics and the participants overall experience with the choreographic process.

Vocalization

In relation to the theme of vocalization, I have found how the voice can be explored in different ways to convey information helpfully. Vocalization is a way of communication where the person is utilizing singing, clapping or other relevant sounds to support the delivering of movements and help the dancers memorize it (Keevallik, 2021). Vocalization can provide the dancers with new and different information that helps individuals to understand the movements in their own way which can then contribute to an embodied understanding of the choreography. Another interesting feature of vocalization is the use of onomatopoeia (Keevallik, 2021) which is a way of recreating an authentic sound that can provide an understanding of the sensation of the movement. Utilizing vocalization can accordingly be a way of explaining dynamics and qualities of each movement, that can give a different perception of how to move the body.

The embodied feeling of communication

The embodied feeling of communication is an approach to non-verbal communication. Non-verbal communication is often explored in choreographic processes (Roche, 2018), and this study reflects on different ways of communicating without using words. It can be viewed that choreographic processes within contemporary dance consist of continuous communication through an application of diverse senses, such as physical touch and glance. Communication with the use of senses in contemporary dance is about being attentive towards everything happening in the space (Vionnet, 2021), regardless of where your body might be positioned. Sensing is about applying various intelligences at once, and Vionnet (2021) mentions that this can be experienced through, for example, actively listening whilst moving. This section has given the study a deeper understanding of non-verbal communication in which it indicates what the body can achieve. An awareness of the embodied feeling of communication rationalizes how the body's senses are required to communicate non-verbally in choreographic processes.

Tactile communication

Tactile communication is another way of communicating without words in contemporary choreographic processes. Tactile communication is about interacting and adapting own movements to another person's created shapes and forms of the body (Rustad, 2020; Vionnet, 2021), and can provide the dancers with a new and different understanding of movements. Tactile communication enables a collective understanding of how to support each other, especially in movements like lifts or leans. Tactile communication can also be beneficial in choreographic education to explain movements and to make understandable corrections. However, there are challenges with tactile communications as well. Dancers should be considerate of each other to avoid making the choreographic process problematic for someone who is not comfortable with physical touch. The hands, the hair and the neck are areas of the body that can be experienced more vulnerable (Vionnet, 2021). As a professional dancer and a dance pedagogue it will be essential to consider this in the dance studio in which every dancer is different, and it will be vital to prevent destructive communication. The study hence discovered the importance of trust and that

working together over a longer period can provide the group with knowledge about each other's intentions and limits. Leah mentioned that the more she has worked with someone, the more she can feel what the group needs. This exemplifies how being familiar with someone can contribute to a more reliable and open process of tactile communication.

Glance

Glance is a significant feature highlighted in this study. Exploring glance in choreographic processes is a way of bringing awareness to the space and the participants which helps the dancers to always stay connected to each other. Glance can be a useful tool in several situations of contemporary choreographic process, such as when collectively creating dance, whilst moving together or as a teaching method in choreographic education. It does though require social cognitive skills that dancers have developed over their years of dance training. These social cognitive skills help the dancers to understand someone else's next movement as well as providing mutual attention to what emerges in the process (Evola & Skubisz, 2019). The study has discovered that glance is a unique approach to non-verbal communication in contemporary choreographic processes.

Supportive communication in choreographic processes

The study discusses how supportive communication can be experienced in different ways for everyone. In this section I connected with Buber´s (1947) idea about genuine dialogue, which is about being attentive to the others as well as it relates to interpersonal understandings that is noticeable through collective openness. Supportive communication is understood in this study as a way of being clear and structured when sharing information to contribute to a more efficient choreographic process. Clear communication is needed to be authentic and honest, to avoid injuries, misunderstandings, and other deviations. It is additionally essential to be honest if something feels strange or painful to improve the group's mutual knowledge, instead of always trying to please the other participants.

Supportive communication in choreographic education

In choreographic education the teacher must be prepared in a different way than in professional choreographic processes in which there are often several dance students with individual needs involved. Teaching may, comparably to communication in professional choreographic processes, require a communication method that is clear, structured, and informal, yet easy to understand and to physically achieve. Examples of clear language include providing the dance students with images and metaphors that can help them identify the sensations of the movements with their personal experiences. Furthermore, from getting more experienced, dance pedagogues can develop ways for explaining movements, such as always using the same word to explain an action. Dance pedagogues can consequently through their expertise explore and discover what communication methods or terminology resonates with the students.

The dancers' relationship's impact on the choreographic process

As O´Connor (2008) mentions there cannot be professional growth without a personal development. I have in this study discovered different ways dancers can connect personally with choreographic work. I have looked at the relationship between friends and colleagues in choreographic processes and how these relations can be both encouraging and destructive for the process. Clarity and reliability were suggested in this section as valuable components, just like in the sections regarding supportive

communication. However, when it comes to relationships it is more connected to being straightforward and not being afraid of insulting anyone regardless of their relationship. From being familiar with each other's boundaries and potentials, dancers might have developed an increased understanding of everyone's needs and therefore productive and constructive choreographic processes.

Multiple choreographers

Working choreographically with multiple choreographers can be challenging in which everyone's voices need to be heard so that everybody's ideas are valued in the same way. Nevertheless, working as both dancers and choreographers opens for creativity and innovative ideas in which several intellects are being integrated. In this study I have discovered that the dancers' contributions should be acknowledged so that they can experience motivation and individuality in the choreographic work. A choreographic process with no leader can additionally provide the dancers with a higher level of reflection regarding artistic choices beyond the movement itself. Choreographic processes with multiple choreographers can also contribute to an understanding of when each dancer's expertise and contributions are advantageous for the group.

Communication skills in choreographic education

I have discovered how a consideration of communication in choreographic education can provide dance students with increased collaboration and communication skills. Dance students can mature as individuals, companions, and colleagues. An awareness of how communication emerges can support students' understanding of how to treat other people with respect and to recognize others' ideas and opinions. The section additionally offers suggestions to how communication can be considered and explored in choreographic education, such as through exploration of movements with a partner using tactile communication or simply reflecting and discussing the meaning of communication skills in collaborative processes.

5.2 Recommendations

Within this section I share the recommendations that emerged from this study. One of the first recommendations that I offer is that knowing the dancers well resonates with both professional processes and choreographic work in education. It might not only be essential for dancers to know each other well, but also to have an appropriate and helpful relationship with the choreographer or the dance pedagogue. By knowing the students well, the educator can understand the students' dancing abilities and can communicate information clear and in more depth, just like Leah suggested: "with some students I can tell them if something is wrong just like that because I know they can do it correctly" and "I am more direct in my communication to them because we are done with me just teaching them movements". Furthermore, the significance of dancers' relationships in choreographic processes can suggest that dancers, choreographers and pedagogues should allow time to get to know one another better to be able to explore and challenge each other, and to prevent unnecessary disagreements or confusions from not understanding each other's limits.

Choreographic processes with not just one leader can cultivate stronger and more reflected dancers, where the dancers get the opportunity to take on multiple roles. Having one choreographer leading the process can be experienced as pleasant, as the dancers might get to focus on their personal exploration of the movements and the

choreographer gets to work on aspects that are engaging within that role. A choreographer can though allow and acknowledge the dancers' perspectives to be equally important, yet it is the choreographer's choice to facilitate an open environment like this or not. A recommendation that emerges from this research is to invite the dancers into the process at a deeper level and allow them to discover what they can offer. This can additionally provide the choreographer with new insights and ideas. By exploring communication in choreographic processes in new ways, the contemporary choreographic field can uncover advanced and different communication methods towards investigating innovative creative ideas.

If the dance pedagogue values class discussions and utilizes this in their teaching, the dance students get the opportunity to improve their communication skills. Even if class discussions mainly initiate verbal communication, it is an example of how educators can engage and develop the student's understanding of communication also in choreographic processes. The study has discovered that communication abilities in dance students at a high level can support students collaborative work and consequently develop reflected and considerate individuals for the society, regardless of their career choices. Therefore, should a recognition of communication's significance in choreographic education be considered just as essential as dance technique and the movement itself.

5.3 Directions for future research

Several additional questions emerged during this research, where I discovered new curiosities within the topic of communication in choreographic processes. Three new research questions have transpired. It could be interesting to explore dancers and dance pedagogues' communication methods in relation to their own dance training, looking at how their dance teachers have influenced their ways of communicating and understanding contemporary dance today. A potential research question for this inquiry could be: How might professional contemporary dancers' prior dance training influence their current communication practices? Considering Sööt and Viskus's (2014) claim that dance teachers often reflect or imitate what their teachers did, makes me curios about the dance teachers impact on the contemporary choreographic field and their consideration of communication.

Furthermore, exploring international studies regarding communication in choreographic processes could be valuable to investigate because it might provide new perspectives on the significance of communication. The differences or parallels between the national and international findings could hence contribute to an understanding of how communication in choreographic processes might foster resourceful and supportive communication dynamics. A future research question could therefore be: How can an understanding of communication methods within international contemporary choreographic processes support the growth of communication approaches in Norwegian choreographic processes?

Finally, another interesting inquiry to explore further can be how the pandemic of COVID-19 perhaps affected the way dancers explored or currently explore communication in choreographic processes. It could be interesting to investigate the communication practices of professional dancers and dance pedagogues both during covid and post-pandemic. Given the impossibility of tactile communication during COVID-19, it would be interesting to investigate if any new modes of communication developed. Therefore, I find the following research question relevant for future studies: How did the COVID-19

pandemic affect the communication practices in contemporary choreographic processes, and what influence has it had on today's communication approaches?

5.4 Final reflections

During my time writing this thesis, I have carefully considered how I communicate as a dance pedagogue. From simply bringing awareness to how I communicate, I have developed a greater understanding of my own dance practice and achieved an improved appreciation towards my job as a dance educator. Additionally, an awareness of the numerous communication approaches within contemporary choreographic processes have given me insight to how to be a more considerate and open communicator. I have hence reflected upon how I express my creative ideas and explored new ways to physically share movements. Communication has therefore become a more flexible and versatile term for me because I have discovered how and what communication can look like in contemporary choreographic processes, and its impact on the participants and the choreographic outcome.

6 References

- 290-299. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.1167
- Adams, A. L. (2022) Collaboration Tools. *Public Services Quarterly, 18*(3), 190-195, https://doi.org/10.1080/15228959.2022.2084490
- Adams, T. E., Ellis, C. & Jones, S. H. (Eds.). (2021). *Handbook of Autoethnography* (2nd edition.). Routledge.
- Alaoui, S. F., Bevilacqua, F. & Jacquemin, C. (2015). Interactive Visuals as Metaphors for Dance Movement Qualities. *ACM Transactions on Interactive Intelligent Systems*, *5*(3), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1145/2738219
- Bannerman, H. (2014). Is Dance a Language? Movement, Meaning and Communication. *Dance Research*, 32(1), 65–80. https://doi.org/10.3366/drs.2014.0087
- Barr, D. J. (2004). Establishing Conventional Communication Systems: Is Common Knowledge Necessary? *Cognitive Science*, *28*(6), 937–962. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cogsci.2004.07.002
- Barsky, M. (2021). Embodying The Dance Rehearsal: The Time, Space and Situatedness of Dance Making. *Journal of Dance Education*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/15290824.2021.1970169
- Belotto, M. J. (2018). Data Analysis Methods for Qualitative Research: Managing the Challenges of Coding, Interrater Reliability, and hematic Analysis. *Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2622–2633. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3492
- Berg, T. (2021). Kinesthetic Dialogue: The "Hands-off" Transmission of Embodied Knowledge through Silent Dance Pedagogy. *Journal of Dance Education*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/15290824.2021.1941976
- Binnewies, C., Ohly, S. & Sonnentag, S. (2007). Taking Personal Initiative and Communicating About Ideas: What is Important for the Creative Process and for Idea Creativity? *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 16(4), 432–455. https://doi.org/10.1080/13594320701514728
- Bochner, A. P. & Ellis, C. (2016). Evocative Autoethnography: Writing Lives and Telling Stories. Routledge.
- Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2006). Using Thematic Analysis in Psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Brinkmann, S. & Tanggaard, L. (Red.). (2012). *Kvalitative metoder: empiri og teoriutvikling*. Gyldendal Akademisk.
- Buber, M. (1947). Dialogue. In R. G. Smith (Trans.), *Between Man and Man* (p. 17-59). London: Fontana.
- Buck-Pavlick, H. (2022). Empowering Metacognition Through Dance Writing and Collaborative Dance Making. *Journal of Dance Education*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/15290824.2022.2051041
- Budge, K. (2016). Teaching Art and Design: Communicating Creative Practice Through Embodied and Tacit Knowledge. *Arts and Humanities in Higher Education*, *15*(3-4), 432–445. https://doi.org/10.1177/1474022215592247
- Butz, D. & Besio, K. (2009). Autoethnography. *Geography Compass, 3*(5), 1660-1674. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-8198.2009.00279.x
- Calvo-Merino, G., Grèzes, J., Glaser, D. E., Passingham, R. E. & Haggard, P. (2006). Seeing or Doing? Influence of Visual and Motor Familiarity in Action

- Observation. *Current Biology*, *16*(19), 1905–1910. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2006.07.065
- Challenges of the 21st Century. Procedia, Social and Behavioral Sciences, 112,
- Chappell, K. (2007). Creativity in Primary Level Dance Education: Moving Beyond Assumption. *Research in Dance Education*, 8(1), 27–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/14647890701272795
- Clements, L., Redding, E. (2020). Creativity in Higher Education Contemporary Dance. *Journal of Dance Education*, 20(2), 88–98. https://doi.org/10.1080/15290824.2019.1572155
- Coleman, L. (2018). Remnants of us: Collective Dance-making as Multi-art Form Praxis. *Journal of Emerging Dance Scholarship*, 6, 1-29.
- Craig, R. T. (1999). Communication Theory as a Field. *Communication Theory*, 9(2), 119–161. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.1999.tb00355.x
- Davies, S. & Leach, J. (2022). Making Something Together: A Conversation About Creating and Sharing Dance Knowledge. *International Journal of Cultural Property*, 29(2), 141-155. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0940739122000145
- Deci, E. L. & Ryan, R. M. (1985). *Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination in Human Behavior*. In Aronson, E. (Ed.). Perspectives in Social Psychology (Ch. 8). Plenum press.
- Denny, E. & Weckesser, A. (2022). How to do Qualitative Research?: Qualitative Research Methods. *BJOG: an International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 129(7), 1166–1167. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.17150
- Denzin, N. K. & Lincoln, Y. S. (Eds.). (2017). *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research* (5th edition.). SAGE Publications.
- Dimitrakopoulou, S. (2022). Teaching Dance in Digital Environments: Copying Through Video. *Research in Drama Education*, *27*(2), 235–252. https://doi.org/10.1080/13569783.2022.2060732
- Dwyer, S. C. & Buckle, J. L. (2009). The Space Between: On Being an Insider-Outsider in Qualitative Research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 8(1), 54–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690900800105
- Ehrenberg, S. (2019). Choreographic practice and Pedagogy as Embodied Ideological Critique of the Labour for Knowledge. *Research in Dance Education*, 20(2), 97–112. https://doi.org/10.1080/14647893.2019.1591359
- Evola, V. & Skubisz, J. (2019). Coordinated Collaboration and Nonverbal Social Interactions: A Formal and Functional Analysis of Gaze, Gestures, and Other Body Movements in a Contemporary Dance Improvisation Performance. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 43(4), 451–479. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10919-019-00313-2
- Fasbender, U., Burmeister, A. & Wang, M. (2023). Managing The Risks and Side Effects of Workplace Friendships: The Moderating Role of Workplace Friendship Self-Efficacy. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *143*, 103875. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2023.103875
- Feldman, A. (1999). The Role of Conversation in Collaborative Action Research. *Educational Action Research*, 7(1), 125–147. https://doi.org/10.1080/09650799900200076
- Fonseca, A., Abril-de-Abreu, R. & Fernandes, C. (2021). Decision-Making In a Choreographic Creative Process: A Quantitative Approach. *The Journal of Creative Behavior*, 55(2), 433–446. https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.464

- Foster-Sproull, S. (2021). A Choreographic PACT: Proposing the Notion of A "Prosumer-dancer" within Dance Education. *Journal of Dance Education*, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/15290824.2020.1851375
- Galeet, B. (2012). Supportive Communication in Classical Ballet Pedagogy. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, 83(4), 5–6. https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2012.10598753
- Giguere, M. (2011). Dancing Thoughts: an Examination of Children's Cognition and Creative Process in Dance. *Research in Dance Education, 12*(1), 5-28. https://doi.org/10.1080/14647893.2011.554975
- Giguere, M. (2019). Dance Trends: Touch as a Teaching Tool in Dance Class: When and How to Use Tactile Feedback. *Dance Education in Practice*, *5*(4), 30-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/23734833.2019.1672468
- Gipson, S. & DiDomenico, S. M. (2022). Art and Perception: How Observing and Discussing Art can Support Students' Communication Education. *Communication Teacher*, *37*(1), 19–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2022.2064530
- Graasvold, H. M. (2015). Se meg! *Tidsskrift for den Norske Lægeforening*, *135*(15), 1416–1416. https://doi.org/10.4045/tidsskr.15.0730
- Hamilton, M. L., Smith, L. & Worthington, K. (2008). Fitting the Methodology with the Research: An Exploration of Narrative, Self-Study and Auto-Ethnography. Studying Teacher Education, 4(1), 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/17425960801976321
- Hammersley, M. (2018). What is ethnography? Can it survive? Should it? *Ethnography* and Education, 13(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/17457823.2017.1298458
- Hanna, J. L. (2008). A Nonverbal Language for Imagining and Learning: Dance Education in K-12 Curriculum. *Educational Researcher*, *37*(8), 491–506. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X08326032
- Harbonnier-Topin, N. & Barbier, J.-M. (2012). "How Seeing Helps Doing, and Doing Allows to See More": The Process of Imitation in The Dance Class. *Research in Dance Education*, 13(3), 301–325. https://doi.org/10.1080/14647893.2012.677423
- Johannessen, A., Tufte, P. A. & Christoffersen, L. (2010). *Introduksjon til samfunnsvitenskapelig metode*. Abstrakt forlag.
- Keevallik, L. (2013). The Interdependence of Bodily Demonstrations and Clausal Syntax. *Research on Language and Social Interaction*, 46(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/08351813.2013.753710
- Keevallik, L. (2021). Vocalizations in Dance Classes Teach Body Knowledge. *Linguistics Vanguard: Multimodal Online Journal*, 7(4). https://doi.org/10.1515/lingvan-2020-0098
- Klien, M. (2007). Choreography: A Pattern Language. *Kybernetes*, *36*(7/8), 1081–1088. https://doi.org/10.1108/03684920710777856
- Koca, G. S. & Erigüç, G. (2020). The Effects of Communication Skills Levels of Health Professionals on the Dimensions of the Johari Window Model. *International Journal of Healthcare Management*, *13*(S1), 434–446. https://doi.org/10.1080/20479700.2019.1596393
- Kwan, S. (2017). When Is Contemporary Dance? *Dance Research Journal*, 49(3), 38–52. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0149767717000341
- Lafrance, M. (2018). Skin Studies: Past, Present and Future. *Body & Society, 24* (1–2), 3–32. https://doi.org/10.1177/1357034X18763065

- Laguna, A. G. & Shifres, F. (2022). Visual and Sound Gesture in Dance Communication.

 *Research in Dance Education, 1-24.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/14647893.2022.2078296
- Lam, C. F., Lee, C. & Sui, Y. (2019). Say It as It Is: Consequences of Voice Directness, Voice Politeness, and Voicer Credibility on Voice Endorsement. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 104(5), 642–658. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000358
- Lord, M. (1981). A Characterization of Dance Teacher Behaviors in Technique and Choreography Classes. *Dance Research Journal*, *14*(1-2), 15–24. https://doi.org/10.2307/1477944
- McKenzie, E. (2017). Klima, karbon og koreografi en dans med to partnere. Journal for Research in Arts and Sports Education, 1(5), 131-140. http://dx.doi.org/10.23865/jased.v1.1064
- Merriam, S. B., Johnson-Bailey, J., Lee, M-Y., Kee, Y., Ntseane, G. & Muhamad, M. (2001). Power and Positionality: Negotiating Insider/Outsider Status within and across Cultures. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 20(5), 405-416. https://doi.org/10.1080/02601370120490
- Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training. (2020). Læreplan i danseteknikker [Curriculum in Dance Technique]. Established as regulations. The National curriculum for the Knowledge Promotion 2020. https://www.udir.no/lk20/mdd04-02
- O'Neal, K. & Hastings, S. O. (2019). Teaching Genuine Dialogue: The Potential for Using Improv. *Peace and Change*, 44(4), 556–576. https://doi.org/10.1111/pech.12374
- O'Connor, K. E. (2008). "You Choose to Care": Teachers, Emotions and Professional Identity. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(1), 117–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2006.11.008
- Ørbæk, T. (2021). Bodily Learning Through Creating Dance: Student Teachers' Experiences From Norwegian Physical Education Teacher Education. *Frontiers in Sports and Active Living*, *3*, 758944–758944. https://doi.org/10.3389/fspor.2021.758944
- Østern, T. P. & Hovik, L. (2017). Med-koreografi og med-dramaturgi som diffraksjon: med som metodologisk agent for skapende og forskende prosesser i Baby Body. *Journal for Research in Arts and Sports Education, 1*(5), 43-58. https://doi.org/10.23865/jased.v1.906
- Østern, T. P., Dahl, T., Strømme, A., Petersen, J. A., Østern, A-L. & Selander, S. (2019). Dybde//læring med overflate og dybde. *Dybde//læring en flerfaglig, relasjonell og skapende tilnærming* (2nd ed., p. 39-53). Universitetsforlaget.
- Pettinger, L. (2005). Friends, Relations and Colleagues: The Blurred Boundaries of the Workplace. *The Sociological Review (Keele)*, *53*(s2), 37–55. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-954X.2005.00571.x
- Pickard, A. (2018). Exploring Embodiment Through Choreographic Practice. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, 1920–1920. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01920
- Pillemer, J. & Rothbard, N. P. (2018). Friends Without Benefits: Understanding The Dark Sides of Workplace Friendship. *The Academy of Management Review*, *43*(4), 635–660. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2016.0309
- Predock-Linnell, L.L. & Predock-Linnell, J. (2001). From Improvisation to Choreography: The critical bridge. *Research in Dance Education*, *2*(2), 195–209. https://doi.org/10.1080/14647890120100809
- Raman, T. (2009). Collaborative Learning in The Dance Technique Class. *Research in Dance Education*, 10(1), 75–87. https://doi.org/10.1080/14647890802697247

- Ravn, S. & Høffding, S. (2021). Improvisation and Thinking in Movement: an Enactivist Analysis of Agency in Artistic Practices. *Phenomenology and the Cognitive Sciences*, 21(3), 515–537. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11097-021-09756-9
- Roche, J. (2018) Dancing Strategies and Moving Identities: the Contributions
 Independent Contemporary Dancers Make to the Choreographic Process. In L.
 Wildschut & J. Butterworth (Eds.), Contemporary Choreography: A Critical Reader (2nd edition). Routledge.
- Rustad, H. (2020). Contact Improvisation and Dance Narratives Body Memory and Embodied Knowledge. *Dance Articulated*, *5*(2). <u>HTTP://DX.DOI.ORG/10.18862/PS.2019.502.3</u>
- Sagiv, T., Simons, T. & Drori I. (2020). The Construction of Authenticity in the Creative Process: Lessons from Choreographers of Contemporary Dance. *Organization Science*, 31(1), 23-46. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.2019.1318
- Salmon, P. & Young, B. (2011). Creativity in Clinical Communication: From Communication Skills to Skilled Communication. *Medical Education*, *45*(3), 217–226. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2923.2010.03801.x
- Scharp, K. M. & Sanders, M. L. (2019). What is a Theme? Teaching Thematic Analysis in Qualitative Communication Research Methods. *Communication Teacher*, *33*(2), 117–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2018.1536794
- Schupp, K. (2015). Teaching Collaborative Skills through Dance: Isolating the Parts to Strengthen the Whole. *Journal of Dance Education*, 15(4), 152–158. https://doi.org/10.1080/15290824.2015.1039643
- Sööt, A. & Viskus, E. (2014). Contemporary Approaches to Dance Pedagogy The Stanton, E. (2011). Doing, Re-doing and Undoing: Practice, Repetition and Critical Evaluation as Mechanisms for Learning in a Dance Technique Class 'Laboratory. *Theatre, Dance and Performance Training, 2*(1), 86-98. https://doi.org/10.1080/19443927.2011.545253
- Stevens, C. & McKechnie, S. (2005). Thinking in Action: Thought Made Visible in Contemporary Dance. *Cognitive Processing*, 6(4), 243–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10339-005-0014-x
- Stock, C. (2012). Adaptation and Empathy: Intercultural Communication in a Choreographic Project. *Journal of Intercultural studies*, *33*(4), 445-462. https://doi.org/10.1080/07256868.2012.693820
- Vionnet, C. (2021). Touch in Contact Improvisation: Proximity/Distance under Intimate Circumstances. *The Senses and Society, 16*(3), 320-338. https://doi.org/10.1080/17458927.2021.1982000
- Vyas, D., van der Veer, G., & Nijholt, A. (2013). Creative Practices in the Design Studio Culture: Collaboration and Communication. *Cognition, Technology & Work*, *15*(4), 415–443. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10111-012-0232-9
- Wertz, F. J., Charmaz, K., McMullen, L. M., Josselson, R., Anderson, R. & McSpadden, E. (2011). Five Ways of Doing Qualitative Analysis: Phenomenological Psychology, Grounded Theory, Discourse Analysis, Narrative Research, and Intuitive Inquiry. The Guilford Press.
- Wittek, L. (2012). *Læring i og mellom mennesker-en innføring i sosiokulturelle perspektiver*. Cappelen Damm Akademisk.
- Yasui, E. (2023). Japanese Onomatopoeia in Bodily Demonstrations in a Traditional Dance Instruction: A Resource for Synchronizing Body Movements. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 207, 45–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pragma.2023.02.002

Zajac, R. J. & Hartup, W. W. (1997). Friends as Coworkers: Research Review and Classroom Implications. *The Elementary School Journal*, *98*(1), 3–13. https://doi.org/10.1086/461881

7 Appendix

7.1 Interview guide

Communication

Tell me what you think of when I say, «communication in choreographic processes".

Tell me about your experience with communication in choreographic work.

What are your thoughts on communication in choreographic processes? Can you give some examples on how this can transpire?

Choreographic Process

What do you experience as efficient communication between dancers in a choreographic process? Can you give some examples from your own experiences?

How do you think your previous experiences from choreographic processes have influenced your communication abilities?

Can you give some examples on how you communicate creative ideas and movements in choreographic processes?

How do you experience the balance between verbal and non-verbal communication in choreographic processes?

Say something about how you communicate if you are not utilizing verbal communication in choreographic processes. Do you have any specific examples on this?

Choreography

Communication within the choreography itself:

- 1) How do you communicate to the others if you forget the next move in a choreography?
- 2) How do you communicate if someone else forgets the choreography?

Choreographic education

Say something about your pedagogical communication practices in contemporary choreographic processes.

How might these relate to your communication methods in a professional choreographic process?

How do you think your experiences from education impacts your communication approaches in choreographic processes?

How do you think your experiences from professional processes impact your communication methods in choreographic education?



